Report Analysis and reports







CAS Software AG CAS-Weg 1 – 5 76131 Karlsruhe

0721 9638 - 0 info@cas.de www.cas-crm.com

The Report module is being developed by itdesign GmbH, Tübingen, Germany www.itdesign.de

Copyright

The information contained herein may be altered without prior notice. The names and data used in the examples are fictitious, except where otherwise stated. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted for any purposes whatsoever without the express written consent of CAS Software AG, irrespective of the manner or the means, electronic or mechanical, by which this occurs.

© 2008 - 2023 CAS Software AG. All rights reserved.

CAS-Weg 1 - 5, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany, www.cas.de/en

All trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

Disclaimer

No guarantee can be made for the accuracy of the content. Notification of errors would be appreciated.

April 2023

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	7
	1.1	Feature overview	7
	1.2	Specifics with modules and integrations	8
	1.3	Note on receipt items	8
2	Crea	ating and configuring report views	9
	2.1	Creating a report view in the program navigator	10
	2.2	Configuring a report view	10
	2.3	Data records	11
		2.3.1 General	11
		2.3.2 Options	14
		2.3.3 Calculations	14
		2.3.4 Include links	20
	2.4	User data	26
	2.5	Time records	27
	2.6	Resource plans	29
		2.6.1 Workload distribution	29
		2.6.2 Overbooking	30
		2.6.3 Filter conditions for resource plans	30
		2.6.4 Hourly rates, costs and turnover	30
		2.6.5 Resource plan details in Crystal Reports	30
	2.7	Additional fields	31
	2.8	Billing	32
	2.9	Primary links	33
	2.10	Last field change	34
	2.11	Visualization	35
	2.12	Using and editing a Crystal Reports Design	40
	2.13	Crystal Reports	43
	2.14	Crystal Reports: Supported Versions and Features	44
	2.15	Crystal Reports: Limitations	44
	2.16	Crystal Reports: Connecting datasources manually	45
3	Rep	ort views in the Desktop Client	51
	3.1	Manager license and Client license	52
	3.2	View	52
		3.2.1 Table	53
		3.2.2 Chart	55
	3.3	List and selection in table and chart	56
	3.4	Editing, saving or resetting the configuration	56
	3.5	Refreshing the view	57
	3.6	Printing the view	57
	3.7	Exporting data	58
	3.8	Report with Crystal Reports	59
	3.9	Editing a Crystal Reports Design	60

4	Rep	ort views in the Web Client	61
	4.1	Report views in the Reports app	61
	4.2	Report views with a Crystal Reports Design	62
	4.3	Report views for list views	63
	4.4	View sections	64
	4.5	Chart features	64
	4.6	Analysis table features	65
	4.7	List features	66
	4.8	Other view options	67
	4.9	Differences to the Desktop Client	68
5	Usir	ng report templates	69
	5.1	Creating a report in the Desktop Client	69
	5.2	Creating a report for a single data record in the Web Client	70
	5.3	Creating a report for multiple data records in the Web Client	71
	5.4	Creating and editing report templates	72
	5.5	Defining favorites	72
	5.6	Editing a template	73
	5.7	Report records and automatic report dispatch	74
		5.7.1 Creating a report record	74
		5.7.2 Participants.	75
		5.7.3 General tab	75
		5.7.4 Filter and Team tabs	75
		5.7.5 Schedule tab	76
		5.7.6 Change log tab	76
		5.7.7 Dossier tab	76
6	Plar	nning views in the Web Client	77
•	6.1	Board view	
	••••	6.1.1 Licensing	
		6.1.2 General	
		6.1.3 View menu	
		6.1.4 Properties	
		6.1.5 Filter	
		6.1.6 Interactions	
	6.2	Timeline view	
		6.2.1 Licensing	
		6.2.2 General	
		6.2.3 View menu	
		6.2.4 Properties	
		6.2.5 Time unit and start date	
		6.2.6 Filter	
		6.2.7 Interactions	
7	Icir	a customer dashboards	22
1	7 1	Creating and editing definitions	00
	1.1	7.1.1 Defining a customer dechaard	07 00
		7.1.1 Demining a customer uashboard	88

	7.2	 7.1.2 Editing report items	
8	Man 8.1 8.2	nagement Console settings Settings in the Rules area Settings in the Miscellaneous area – Currencies	95 95
9	Data 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6	a types in the formula editor Supported data types Float (floating point number) Integer Boolean value String Date/Time	97 97 97 97 98 98 98 98
10	Fund 10.1	ctions in the formula editor Available functions (Maths) 10.1.1 Truncate(Number, Decimal places) 10.1.2 Round(Number, Decimal places) 10.1.3 Power(Number, Number)	99
	10.2	 10.1.4 Log(Number) Available functions (Strings) 10.2.1 Length(String) 10.2.2 Trim(String) 10.2.3 LowerCase(String) 10.2.4 UpperCase(String) 10.2.5 Left(String, Length) 10.2.6 Right(String, Length) 10.2.7 Replace(Input string, Search string, Replace string) 10.2.8 Search(Input string, Search string) 10.2.9 Contains(Input string, Search string) 10.2.10 Substring(String, Start, Length) 	
	10.3	Available functions (Date and time) 10.3.1 CurrentDate() 10.3.2 CurrentTime() 10.3.3 YearOf(Date/Time) 10.3.4 MonthOf(Date/Time) 10.3.5 MonthName(Date/Time) 10.3.6 DayOfTheMonth(Date/Time) 10.3.7 DayOfTheWeek(Date/Time) 10.3.8 WeekDayName(Date/Time) 10.3.9 HourOfTheDay(Date/Time) 10.3.10 MinuteOf(Date/Time) 10.3.11 SecondOf(Date/Time)	

		10.3.12 AddDay(Date/Time, Number)	108
		10.3.13 AddMonth(Date/Time, Number)	109
		10.3.14 AddYear(Date/Time, Number)	109
		10.3.15 AddInterval (Date/Time, Interval)	109
		10.3.16 EncodeDate(Year, Month, Day)	110
	10.4	Available functions (More)	111
		10.4.1 IsNull(Value)	111
		10.4.2 NULL()	111
		10.4.3 CurrentUser()	111
		10.4.4 UserNameForId(User ID)	112
		10.4.5 IsCurrentUserInGroup(Group)	112
		10.4.6 CurrentLanguage()	112
		10.4.7 ToBaseCurrency(Value, Currency)	113
		10.4.8 FromBaseCurrency(Value, Currency)	113
	10.5	Available functions (Working time)	114
		10.5.1 WorkingTimeForUser(User ID, Start date, End date)	114
	10.6	Available functions(Type conversion)	115
		10.6.1 ToString(Value)	115
		10.6.2 ToInt(Value)	115
		10.6.3 ToFloat(Value)	116
		10.6.4 StringToFloat(String, Thousands seperator, Decimal seperator)	117
		10.6.5 ToBool(Value)	117
		10.6.6 DateToString(Date/Time, Output format)	118
		10.6.7 StringToDate(String, Input format)	118
		10.6.8 ToCurrencyString(Value)	119
11	Ope	rators in the formula editor	120
	11.1	Overview of available operators	120
	11.2	Prefix operators	120
	11.3	Infix operators	120
	11.4	Special operators	121
	11.5	Combining data types with operators	122
		11.5.1 Prefix operator "-"	122
		11.5.2 Prefix operator "+"	122
		11.5.3 Prefix operator "NOT"	123
		11.5.4 Infix operator "+"	124
		11.5.5 Infix operator "-"	125
		11.5.6 Infix operator "*"	126
		11.5.7 Infix operator "/"	127
		11.5.8 Infix operators "=" and "<>"	128
		11.5.9 Infix operators "<", ">", "<=" and ">="	129
		11.5.10 Infix operators "AND" and "OR"	130

1 Introduction

With Report, you create **report views** for versatile analyses. Display figures as a table or chart, print the view or export as Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Access, XML, HTML or CSV file.

Report templates for a data record type are available by clicking on the **Report** button in the upper right of the toolbar in the data record window or in a list.

Create your own **Crystal Reports** documents with the Crystal Reports Designer (additional paid software not included in CAS genesisWorld or the Report module) and export them as a Crystal Reports, PDF, CSV, Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Word, RTF or XML file.

Template reports created with Crystal Reports support an automatic report dispatch.

Schedule and plan with the timeline view and board view in the Web Client.

Define **customer dashboards** in the Management Console to display an overview of fields, figures and links for individual data records.

1.1 Feature overview

- Report views (Desktop Client and Web Client)
 - Interactive analysis table and graphic charts
 - Group by text fields, date (year, quarter, month, week, day), postal code area (1st/2nd/3rd character), individual levels of hierarchical input helps and link type in any desired nesting depth
 - Selection of link types, multilevel analysis of primary links, aggregation and dossier mode for comparing different data record types
 - Require the presence or absence of certain links as a filter criterion
 - Formula editor with access to fields and input help items of selected data records
 - Create Crystal Reports documents (in the Desktop Client with selected data only)
- Report templates (Desktop Client and Web Client)
 - Detailed analyses of selected data records in the interactive report view
 - Use Crystal Reports for extensive and detailed reports
 - Automatic report dispatch
- Planning views (Web Client)
 - Board view and timeline view
- Customer dashboard (Desktop Client)
 - Overview of data record fields, measures and links

1.2 Specifics with modules and integrations

When using Report, you have to consider certain specific characteristics in combination with other modules and integrations.

The most important features and limitations are described where they apply in this user guide, especially specifics when using CAS genesisWorld Web.

For an overview, see the <u>Report</u> page under **Working with several modules** in the English version of hilfe.cas.de.

1.3 Note on receipt items

If you are using ERP.connect or Easy Invoice, receipts and receipt items are available.

Please note that in the English language version, receipt items used to be displayed as "document items" in former versions. Older databases still use this name.

2 Creating and configuring report views

The following chapter describes how to create report views and how to specify in a report view's properties the selection of data, the visualization, and connection to Crystal Reports.

2.1 Creating a report view in the program navigator (page 10)

2.2 Configuring a report view (page 10)

2.3 Data records (page 11): data records, fields and links to be analyzed

2.4 User data (for time records and expenses, page 26): include employee address data and filter by address fields (e.g., "Department is equal to Accounting")

2.5 Time records (page 27): working hours per day, week, month, quarter or year

2.6 Resource plans (page 29): group ETC by date

2.7 Additional fields (for receipts and records with currency fields, page 31): apply statistic factor to receipt sums and convert monetary amounts to base currency

2.8 Billing (for time records, expenses and external services, page 32): configure **Billing** menu (prepare time records for billing, create items for time records, expenses and external services, create vendor credits and bill time records)

2.9 Primary links (when active, page 33): include data from the primary address, project and/or job, supporting multiple job levels (flexible job hierarchy)

2.10 Last field change (with required other right, page 34): analysis of date and time of the last change in selected fields

2.11 Visualization (page 35): selection of grouping fields, display values and filter values. Default settings of the view when opening it

2.12 Using and editing a Crystal Reports Design (page 40): exporting data from the report view to Crystal Reports and embedding generated reports

2.13 Crystal Reports (page 43): exporting and archiving Crystal Reports documents

2.14 Crystal Reports: Supported Versions and Features (page 44): supported versions and features of the Crystal Reports Integration

2.15 Crystal Reports: Limitations (page 44): limitations of the Crystal Reports Integration

2.16 Crystal Reports: Connecting datasources manually (page 45): instructions for manually connecting the datasource with Crystal Reports 2020 or in case of an error

Note

Creating and modifying report views is only possible in the Desktop Client.

However, once created, report views are also available in the Web Client with support for most features. For details, see chapter "4 Report views in the Web Client", section

"4.9 Differences to the Desktop Client" on page 68.

Creating new report views and editing the properties of existing report views both require a Manager license for the Report module.

Without a Manager license, it is not possible to create any new report views or change the properties of existing report views.

2.1 Creating a report view in the program navigator

You insert the view in your program navigator in the following way.

- ✓ Right-click on the desired place to call up the context menu.
- ✓ Select **Create new view**. The view wizard opens.
- ✓ Select **Report view**. Then click **Next**.
- ✓ Enter the desired name for the view. Then click **Next**.
- ✓ Specify all further settings of the report view, as described in the following sections.
- ✓ Confirm the creation of the report view by clicking **Finish**.

2.2 Configuring a report view

To edit a report view, right-click on its navigator node and select **Properties** from the context menu.

You can edit report templates in the template selection, which you open via the **Report** button (see chapter "5 Using report templates" on page 69).

You make the following settings when creating or editing report views or templates.

2.3 Data records

In the Data records tab, you select the data records and fields to analyze.

Depending on the data record types you select, you may select additional data and enter settings on additional tabs. These are listed on the pevious pages.

🍪 View wiza	rd			×		
Report view						
Data records	Additional fields L	ast field change	Visualization			
General Data record	l type		Options Link subqueries with OR			
Addresses		~ 🗟	View format			
Fields Company,	Company 2, Country	/, First 🔺 🥒	Standard (public)	~		
name, Forr	m of address, Name, I	Postal 🗸	Calculations			
Filter			Precalculated values			
All Address	All Addresses					
Participant	5		Calculated fields	×		
Search all o accessed	data records which ca	in be 🔐		1		
Include links						
∐ New ∨	Edit X Delete					
Query	Include		Link types			
Use Report	visualization			,		
Report	visualization first	Cryst	tal Reports first			
Use Crysta	l Reports Design					
Design			Edit design Select different design			
0			Cancel < Back Next >	Finish		

2.3.1 General

You select the core data records and associated fields with the following settings.

- Data record type: Here you select one of the visible data record types. In addition, a number of data record types which do not have their own data record windows and a number of options for the analyses of certain links are available here.
 - **Companies and contacts persons:** Filter by address type. You can add associated contacts to companies and vice versa. Selecting a link type isn't required.

Please note that these options never select individual contacts.

Alternatively, you can filter by address type using the **is Company** (companies and individual contacts) and **is Contact** (contact persons and individual contacts) fields.

- Employees and associated data records: Select addresses linked to users. You can
 add data records in which a linked user has been entered in a text field using the
 additional options for selecting the link type.
- Time records/expenses and employees' addresses (Project/Helpdesk): When you select time records or expenses, linked with addresses, or the other way around, the User Time records or User Expenses link type will be available. It assigns to each time or expense record the associated user's address, provided the user has been assigned an employee address.
- Inxmail distribution lists and addresses (Inxmail Professional Integration): When you select distribution lists, linked with addresses, or the other way around, the Inxmail categories Recipient, Unsubscribed and Declined will be available in the Link name field.
- Campaign statistics (Marketing Only with Microsoft SQL database, not supported with Oracle databases): You can analyze campaign statistics discretely or in connection with campaigns via Include links.
- Product items: When you select opportunities, you can analyze associated product items via a link query. Please note that product items are distinct from project items available with the Project module, which are just called items.
- Items and appointments (Project): When you select (project) items, you can include associated appointments via a link query and vice versa.

The link is called **Item for appointment**.

- Items and products (Project): When you select (project) items, you can include associated products via a link query and vice versa.
- Items and time records/expenses/external services (Project): When you select (project) items, you can include time records, expenses or external services that were billed via an item via a link query and vice versa (see Project user manual).

The links are called **Billed time records/expenses/external services – Billing item**.

 Prices and discounts (Sales pro and Project): Prices and discounts represent special terms for select customers and are available with Sales pro or Project.

Links to addresses can be included with the Include links feature.

- Receipts and receipt items, formerly called "document items" (ERP.connect / Easy Invoice): When you select receipts, you can include associated receipt items via a link query. Specify in the Additional fields tab whether the statistic factor should be considered for receipts and receipt items and whether monetary amounts in foreign currencies should additionally be converted to the base currency (see "2.7 Additional fields" on page 31).
- Original receipt and follow-up receipt (Easy Invoice): For receipts, you may include linked follow-up receipts (e.g., an invoice created for a sales quote).

- Cancellation document and cancelled receipt (Easy Invoice): For cancelled receipts, you may include the respective cancellation document and vice versa.
- Items and order items (Project with Easy Invoice): You can include links between (project) items and associated order items (receipt items for receipts of the Order type) in both directions.
- Order items and receipt items (Easy Invoice): For order items, you may include associated receipt items. To do so, select receipts with linked receipt items. Then add linked receipt items once more and select the associated link.
- Receipt items and time records/expenses/external services (Easy Invoice): When you select receipt items, you can include time records, expenses or external services that were billed via a receipt item, or the other way around. Selecting a link type isn't required.
- Receipt items and addresses (Easy Invoice): When you select receipt items, you
 can include the addresses linked to the the associated receipts, or the other way
 around. Select the required link type.
- Receipt items and products (Easy Invoice): When you select receipt items, you can
 include the associated product, or the other way around, via a link query. Selecting a
 link type isn't required.
- Status changes (Helpdesk): You may analyze status changes in connection with jobs via Include links.
- Surveys and questionnaires (Survey): When you select a data record type for which questionnaire templates are available, or when you select surveys, associated questionnaires will be available for selection as linked data records (see section "Questionnaire" on page 24)
- Review: Here you open a list of the core data records currently selected with the settings **Data record type**, **Filter**, **Participants** and **Include links**.
- Fields: Here you select the fields to analyze. For addresses, you also specify here whether pictures should be transferred to Crystal Reports and whether numbered address lines should be exported (as for mail merge documents).

The exported fields are called "ADDRESS_ADDRESSLINE_", followed by "BUSINESS" for company address, "DELIVERY" for delivery address, "PRIVATE" for private address and "SAVED" for the address that was selected when the data record was last saved.

The fields are numbered 1 to 7 respectively. "ALL" fields with all seven lines of each address are also available.

Filter: Here you select filter conditions to further limit the selected data records (e.g., **Sector is equal to banking**.)

- Filter by current user: The "Current user" placeholder represents the current user.
 For example, a report view for time records using the filter condition User name is equal to "Current user" displays the current user's time records.
- Participants: Here you select the users whose data records are included in the analysis when analyzing user sensitive data record types.

2.3.2 Options

Under **Options**, you specify whether link queries should be connected with OR and select the view format for the list.

- Link subqueries with OR: If you have entered more than one link query in one of the Only data records with the following links or No data records modes, in the default setting, only core data records to which all of these link queries apply are included in the analysis. Select this option if all core data records to which at least one of the link queries applies should be included instead.
- View format: Here you select the view format for the list.

Edit view format: Here you open the window View format for selecting and editing view formats.

2.3.3 Calculations

Under Calculations, you can define precalculated values and calculated fields.

Select precalculated values: Here you define precalculated values.

A precalculated value combines several linked data records to one measure. For example, you may calculate the number of tickets for a support client or the sum of time records for a project.

You either select the data records to process via the data record type, filter conditions, participants and link types or via an existing link query.

When you select a link query, calculated fields defined in the query will also be available as base of the calculation. Precalculated values defined in the query won't be available. Please note that data records will be counted only once even if a link query returns them multiple times via different links.

Click on the **Select precalculated values** button in order to open the list of precalculated values. Here you create new precalculated values and edit, duplicate or remove precalculated values that have already been defined.

Ø Define precalculated v	alues		_		\times
🗋 New 🥒 Edit 🔲 Du	plicate $ imes$ Delete				
Description 🛆	Name	Δ	Function		
Average task duration	TaskDuration		Average		
		_			
			OK	Car	ncel

 Editing a precalculated value: To create or edit a precalculated value, the Precalculated value window opens.

Name	TaskDuration	
Description	Average task duration	
Field used for th	he calculation	
Use field fr	rom linked data record	
⊖ Use field o	or calculated field from queries	
Linked data reco	ords	
Data record type	De	
Tasks	~	
Filter		
All Tasks		5
Participants		_
Search all data	records which can be accessed	ŝ
Link types		_
All the should be as an	/stem connections	Ľ
All including sy		
Value		
Value O Count		
Value O Count (a) Calculation		
Value O Count © Calculation Field	Duration ~	
Value Count Count Calculation Field Function	Duration ~ Average ~	

- Name: Specify an internal name here. Special characters and blanks are not allowed. The internal name may not be identical with another internal field name. The field will be available in Crystal Reports under this name.
- **Description:** If desired, enter a description to display in the report view here.

- Select Use field from linked data record to select linked data records via data record type, filter conditions, participants and link types.
 - Linked data records: Select here the data record type of the linked data records from which the measure should be calculated. If desired, you may also enter filter conditions as well as select participants and link types to be regarded.
 - Value: Specify here whether the number of linked data records should be specified or whether to calculate the Sum, Minimum, Maximum or Average of all selected data records for the field.
- Select Use field or calculated field from queries to select linked data records via a link query.

Precalculated value	2	×
General		
Name	TaskDuration	
Description	Average task duration	
Field used for th	e calculation	
🔾 Use field fr	om linked data record	
Use field o	r calculated field from queries	
Available queries		
Query	Tasks	~
Value		
◯ Count		
Calculation		
Field	Duration \lor	
Function	Average ~	
		OK Cancel

- Available queries: Select the desired link query here.
- Value: Specify here whether the number of linked data records should be specified or whether to calculate the Sum, Minimum, Maximum or Average of all selected data records for the field.

When you select a link query, you may select from all available fields of the selected data record type regardless of the fields selected in the query, as well as from any calculated fields defined in the query.

Note

For fields of the datetime data type, only the **Minimum**, **Maximum** and **Average** functions are available.

For fields of the bit data type, only the **Sum** function is available. It returns the number of **true** values.

For text fields (char/nchar and varchar/nvarchar), only the **Minimum** and **Maximum** functions are available. They return the first or last item in alphabetic order.

Select calculated fields: Here you define calculated fields.

You may assemble the desired function in a formula editor using functions and fields of the data records to be analyzed as well as calculated fields that have already been defined.

Click on the Select calculated fields button to open the list of calculated fields.

Here you may create new calculated fields and edit, duplicate or remove existing calculated fields.

日 Define calcu	lated fields		_		×
🗋 New 🥒 Ed	lit 🔲 Duplicate	imes Delete			
Description 🗠	Name 🛆	Result type	Formula		
Remaining hours	RemainingHours	Float	{Tasks.Nominal}	- {Tasks.	Actual}
			ОК	Car	ncel

Notes

Please note that calculated fields are calculated per data record. When summing up over groups in the report view, the calculations will therefore not be executed for the sums, but instead the results of the calculations for each data record that is included in the sum will be summed up.

Please also note the following chapters on the formula editor:

9 Data types in the formula editor (page 97)

10 Functions in the formula editor (page 99)

11 Operators in the formula editor (page 120)

Name	RemainingHours		
Description	Remaining hours		
Result type	Float		
Format	Duration (person days) ~	Decimal places 0
ormula			
Fields Fi	d ID mplete y status ory jed by jed on ent 2 ent ed by ed on on g status f recurrence pattern ited ored al	 Functions Maths Truncate(Number , Decimal places) Round(Number , Number) Log(Number) Strings Length(String) Trim(String) LowerCase(String) UpperCase(String) Left(String, Length) Right(String, Length) Replace(Input sequence, Search sequence) Contains(Input sequence, Search sequence) SubString(String, Start, Length) Bate and time More Working hours Type conversion 	 Operators Arithmetic Addition("+") Subtraction("-") Multiplication("*") Division("/) Compare Is unequal to("<>") Is unequal to("<>") Less than or equal("<=") Greater than or equal to(">=") Greater than or equal to(") Or("OR") Control element structure "If then else" Other Parenthese("(x)") Comment("//)

 Edit calculated fields: To create or edit a formula, the Edit calculated field window opens.

- Name: Enter an internal name here. Special characters and blanks are not allowed here. The internal name may not be identical with another internal field name. The field will be available in Crystal Reports under this name.
- **Description:** If desired, enter a description to display in the report view here.
- Result type and Format: Select here the desired field type. For floating point numbers, also select the desired format here. See chapter "9 Data types in the formula editor" on page 97 for more information about the available data types.
 - Float = floating point number, e.g., "1.25", precision up to 15 digits total before and after the point (e.g., 7 digits before and 8 digits after the point).

Format Decimal, Currency or Duration in PD / 24h days.

Note

The number of decimal places you select for floating point numbers in the **Decimal** format affects the precision of calculations as well as the appearance of results.

- Integer (range -9,223,372,036,854,775,808 to 9,223,372,036,854,775,807)
- Boolean value ("true"/"false")
- String
 - String constants must be put in double quotes (e.g., "String").
 - Concatenate string fields and constants with "+" (e.g., {Field} + "String")
 - Special characters (", \) must be preceded by a backslash character (\) if they should be part of the string (e.g., "\"Quote\"" or "C:\\Users").
 - Line breaks can be inserted with "\n" (e.g., "Line1\nLine2").
- Date/Time (date/time fields or functions such as CurrentDate or EncodeDate)
- **Formula:** By double-clicking entries of the displayed lists, you may insert fields, functions and operators in the formula. Alternatively you enter your formula in the displayed syntax using the keyboard.
 - Check formula: click on the Check formula button in the lower left to check whether the formula is valid. If errors are found, they will be displayed. The formula will automatically be checked for validity when you save it by clicking OK.
 - Available fields
 - Database fields, calculated fields & precalculated values of the current query
 - Database fields, calculated fields & precalculated values of superordinate queries
 - Database fields, calculated fields & precalculated values of any subordinate queries whose data records are aggregated with the current query
 - Date of the last field change for all fields selected under Last field change (see 2.10 Last field change on page 34).
 - Record ID, for addresses User ID (can be used as parameter for the WorkingTimeForUser function, see page 114).
 - Values from input help options: for international input helps, you can insert the associated options independently from the client language.

For instance, you can check the department of an address with this formula:
{Addresses.Department} = {^Address.Department.Development}

When executed in English, this formula checks for the "Development" value. In German, it checks for "Entwicklung" (if that is the translation entered under **Database** in the Mangement Console), and so on.

- **Available functions:** Under **Functions** you can see available functions and required parameters. Empty brackets mean that no parameters can be passed to the function.
- Available operators: Supported operators are visible in the Operators list.

2.3.4 Include links

In addition to the selected core data records you may include links in the analysis here.

New query: Click **New** to add a query for links to other data records in your analysis.

- **New subquery:** You can extend a link query with additional links or limit it via a link filter by introducing subqueries. Any settings made in subqueries relate to the data records of the associated link query instead of the core data records.
 - ✓ Select the link query to be extended with the mouse.
 - ✓ Click on the ▼ arrow to the right of the **New** button to open the associated menu.
 - ✓ Select **Subquery**.

Edit query: By double-clicking an entry in the Include links list, or by selecting a list entry and clicking Edit you change an existing link query.

× **Remove query:** Here you remove the selected link query.

General	- Ontions
Data record type	Description Addresses
Addresses ~	Aggregate
Fields	Display with other data record types in dossier
Company, Company 2, Country, First name, Form of address, Name, Postal code, Street, Title, Town,	Link subqueries with OR
Filter	View format
All Addresses	Standard (public) V
Datisiaante	Calculations
Search all data records which can be accessed	
Link types	Calculated fields
All	
Companies and contact persons	
Normal	
) Do not include links of contact persons	
Overall dossier	
Corporate group dossier	

Make the following settings for linked data records and links.

 Include: Here you determine, whether the absence or presence of links effects the selection of the core data records.

If you select either of the **Only data records with the following links** or **Additional links** options, selected fields of the linked data records, the time of linking and the name of the user who created the link will be available in the analysis.

- Additional links: In this mode the linked data records supplement the already selected analysis data without effecting their selection.
- Only data records with the following links: In this mode only core data records which are linked to one of the data records, specified here via one of the selected link types, are included in the analysis.
- No data records: In this mode only core data records which are not linked to one of the data records, specified here via one of the selected link types, are included in the analysis.
- General: Here you make all settings for the linked data records and the link types to be considered.
 - Data record type: Select the data record type of the linked data records here.
 - Review: Here you open a list of the core data records currently selected with the **Data record type**, **Filter** and **Participants** settings.
 - Fields: Here you select the fields to be analyzed. For addresses you also specify here whether pictures should be transferred to Crystal Reports.
 - Filter: Here you select filter conditions to further limit the selected data records (e.g.,
 Sector is equal to banking.) "Current user" represents the current user.
 - Participants: Here you select the users whose data records are included in the analysis when analyzing user sensitive data record types.

Link types: Three modes are available for including links:

 All link types: This is the default setting for most data record type combinations and will include all links types. The inclusion of system links (links that won't be displayed in the dossier) is optional.

You can identify links with the **Link name** field. General links are listed under **Connection**. Primary links are separated in direct and indirect primary links. For example, a document with primary links to an address, project and job is linked directly with the job and indirectly with the address and project.

 Only primary links: This is the default setting for time records, expenses and external services and will filter the links, such that only primary links are included. Other than with the All link types mode, direct and indirect primary links are not displayed separately in this mode.

- Only the following link types: Select the desired link types here. You may select from among any available link types except for general links, primary links and system links.
- Options
 - Description: If desired, you specify a different name for displaying the data records in the report view. For example, this serves for distinction between two data sets of the same data record type.
 - Aggregate: Select this option for connecting the linked data records with the core data records via a distinct association. Each core data record for which at least one linked data record can be found will be extended with the linked data record's fields. If a core data record has more than one link matching the query, the first linked data record that can be found will be selected, ignoring any other matching links.
 - Display together with other data record types in dossier mode: The dossier mode combines data records from different first level link queries in a shared
 Dossier query with shared fields. It includes all data records from all first level link queries selected for the dossier mode and will be available independently from the constituent queries and the fields selected in them.

You may specify the fields **Date**, **Subject**, **Category** and **Additional information** in the Management Console in **Miscellaneous** > **Dossier**. You cannot modify the other dossier fields. Additionally, you can defined shared calculated fields for link queries in the dossier mode. To do this, you must add the desired calculated field to each sub query for which it should be calculated. The same entry must be used in the **Description** field and the **Make calculated field available in dossier mode** option must be selected each time. For queries in the dossier mode for which the calculated field hasn't been defined, it will automatically acquire the NULL value.

When exporting, the internal name of a shared calculated field for the dossier role is DOSSIER_FORMULA_[FIELD NAME].

When you are using a Crystal Reports Design, the data record type icon will be available in Crystal Reports as a BLOB field called DOSSIER_GWDATAOBJECTIMAGE.

- **Count:** the number of all data records selected for dossier mode.
- Data record type: the data record type, for example, task or appointment.
- Date: the sorting field selected in the dossier settings.
- **Start:** the start date of the data recod. The used date field is not selectable.
- End: the end or due date of the data record. The used date field is not selectable.
- Created on: time of creation.
- **Created by**: the user who created the data record.
- Changed on: most recent change.

- Changed by: the user who has made the last change in the data record.
- Subject: the subject field selected in the dossier settings.
- **Type/Status:** the fields **Type** and **Status** of the data record.
- Category: the category field selected in the dossier settings.
- Participants: the Participants field for user sensitive data record types.
- Keywords: the Keywords field of the data record.
- Notes: the notes field of the data record. For archived e-mails the content.
- Additional information, additional information 2, additional information 3: The first three fields selected in the dossier settings as Additional information.
- Link subqueries with OR: If you have entered more than one sub-query in one of the Only data records with the following links or No data records modes, in the default setting, only linked data records to which all of these link queries apply are included in the analysis. Select this option if all linked data records to which at least one of the sub-queries applies should be included instead.
- View format: Here you select the view format for the list.

Edit view format: Here you open the window View format for selecting and editing view formats.

- Calculations: Here you define precalculated values and calculated fields. The same features are available here as for core data records (see "Calculations" on page 14).
- Companies and contact persons: If you have selected addresses as core data records or as linked data records, you determine here whether a company and associated contact persons should be treated as one address in the link analysis.
 - Normal: The default setting considers only links of explicitly selected addresses.
 - Do not include contact person links: include only links to selected companies and companies of selected contact persons. Links to contact persons won't be included.
 - Company dossier: This setting includes, in addition to links of selected companies and contact persons, company-wide links of any other addresses which can be associated with a selected address.

For selected companies, this includes the links of any associated contact persons.

For selected contact persons this includes the links of the associated company and of all other contact persons associated with that company.

 Corporate group dossier: This setting works like the company dossier but includes company-wide links of any companies directly or indirectly subordinate to a selected company or the company of a selected contact person in the Company group view. Questionnaire: Options for selecting a template, questions and the analysis mode will be displayed when you select Questionnaire as data record type.

lnclude links		_		2
Include				
Additional links Only data rec	ords with the	following links O No data records		
General		Options		
Data record type		Description Questionnaires		
Questionnaires	~	Aggregate		
Fields		Display with other data record types in dossier		
Changed by, Changed on, Data record type, Perso	on ^ 🧷	Link subqueries with OR		
responsible, Published online from, Score, Status,	*	View format		
Filter	∇	Standard (public)	\sim	
All Questionnaires	U			
Participants		Calculations Procedulated values		
Search all data records which can be accessed	02 02			1
Link types		Calculated fields		
Questionnaire for data record	Z			0
Companies and contact persons				
Normal				
 Do not include links of contact persons 				
Corporate group dossier				
All questionnaire templates and surveys				
Template/Survey All templates and surveys			\sim	
Questions				0
Treat question/answer p	oairs like linke	d data records		
Treat questions like field	ls			
		ОК	Ca	incel

• **Template:** By default, the **All templates** entry is selected here.

Alternatively, you may select the desired template.

 Template/Survey: For questionnaires belonging to addresses or surveys, surveys will be available for selection in addition to templates. In this case, select the default option All templates and surveys if you don't wish to filter by template or survey.

Alternatively, you may select the desired template or survey.

Please note that when selecting surveys, you may also determine the survey or surveys to include via the associated filter settings.

- Questions: If you have selected a specific template or survey, you may select sections and questions here. By default, all sections and questions are selected.
- In the Treat question/answer pairs like linked data records mode, you may group by section, type of question, question text, answer, achieved and maximal score and

by all questionnaire fields. The number of questionnaires, questions and answers as well as the maximal score of questions, the achieved score of answers and the total score of the questionnaire are available as display values.

In the Treat questions like fields mode, you may group by the answers or scored points of individual questions and by all questionnaire fields.

The number of questionnaires, the achieved score of individual answers and the total score of the questionnaire are available as display values. Also, in this mode, the answers and score for all questions are available under **Calculated fields** in the formula editor for calculated fields for questionnaires.

If you select **All templates** or **All templates and surveys**, this mode won't be available.

2.4 User data

The **User data** tab will be displayed when expenses or time records are included in the analysis as core data records, or as linked data records. Here you extend the selected data records with fields from addresses associated with users and filter them by these addresses.

🍪 View wiza	rd									×
Report view										*
Data records	User data	Time records	Additional fields	Billing	Primary links	Visualizat	ion			
User data fo	or expenses	and time record	ls							
Filter by	correspond	ding employee	data and/or add ad	dress field	ds					
Filter	All Addre	esses								∇
Fields	Name									1
Use Report	visualizatio	n								
Report	visualization	n first	Crystal Rep	orts first						
Use Crysta	Reports De	sign	- ,							
Design	•	-	Edit	design	Selec	t different:	design			
0							Cancel	< Back	Next >	Finish

- Filter by corresponding employee data and/or add address fields: Select this option if you wish to add filter conditions for addresses which are associated with the users of the expenses and/or time records, or if you wish to include fields from these addresses in the analysis. In the group field menus the user data are available among the fields of the corresponding time records and/or expenses.
 - ∇ Filter: Here you specify filter conditions to exclude expenses and/or time records of users whose addresses do not satisfy the conditions from the analysis.

The "Current user" placeholder represents the current user.

Fields: Here you select the fields from employees' addresses which should be included in the analysis.

2.5 Time records

The **Time records** tab will be displayed when time records are included in the analysis. Here you specify whether the participants' working hours per day, week, month, quarter or year should be calculated.

🍘 View wizard								×
Report view								*
Data records User data	Time records	Additional fields	Billing Prim	ary links Visuali	zation			
Calculate working hour	rs for time recor	ds						
Each day	Each week	Each r	nonth					
Each quarter	Each year							
Use Report visualizatio	on							
Report visualization	n first	Crystal Rep	orts first					
Use Crystal Reports De	esign							
Design		Edit	design	Select differe	nt design			
0					Cancel	< Back	Next >	Finish

 Calculate working hours for time records: Select one of these options to include the work time enterered for users in the report.

If available, the current working hours as entered in the Management Console in **Time record** > **Working hours** are used.

For an employee whose working hours were not entered in the Management Console, the working hours entered in the user settings on the **Calendar** tab are used. For each participant of time records in the analysis, the sum of working hours in each interval selected here is calculated.

This value is associated with exactly one time record in the interval. No working hours are associated with any other of the user's time records.

In the **Configuration** window the working hours of the selected intervals are available for selection as display values.

Notes

The working hours are only displayed correctly if all rime records of a data group lie in the same interval for which the working hours were calculated. If you group by weeks, for example, the entered working hours are only displayed correctly if you have selected **Each week**.

If you group time records of a user in an interval by another feature, the working hours are only displayed in one group. In the other groups the working hours are displayed as zero. This ensures that the group sum displays the correct working hours. The working hours are only displayed in an interval if the time record with which they are associated is not hidden due to a filter. In intervals in which a user has not recorded time, no work time is displayed.

The **Report data** list shows for each user and interval with which time record the working hours calculated for that interval are associated.

2.6 Resource plans

The Resource plans tab will be displayed in reports for resource plans (root or linked).

🍪 View wizard
Report view
Data records User data Time records Resource plans Additional fields Billing Primary links Visualization
Group ETC by date
Restrict display period to 3 👘 months
Make the "Internal hourly rate" and "External hourly rate" fields available
Use Report visualization
Report visualization first Crystal Reports first
Use Crystal Reports Design
Design Edit design Select different design
Cancel < Back Next > Finish

- With Group ETC by date, one Resource plan detail record per week during the remaining duration of each current resource plan will be included with these fields:
 - Resource plan detail.Start (Monday of the respective week)
 - **Resource plan detail.ETC** (weekly ETC proportion)

Restrict display period speeds up the calculation of ETC values per week and refers only to resource plans that are completely or partially in the future.

2.6.1 Workload distribution

For past resource plans with automatic distribution, a single detail record will be included with **Start** equal to the week of the associated job's end and the resource plan's full **ETC**. For past resource plans with manual distribution, associated remaining **ETC** values will be displayed where they have been entered, with month values being assigned to the last week of the associated month.

In the current month, automatically distributed workloads and month values will be distributed equally over the remaining weeks, starting with the current week.

2.6.2 Overbooking

With automatic or monthly planning, if an overbooking occurs in any week, that is, if the total of associated time records exceeds value planned for that week, the difference will successively be deducted from the remaining weeks starting with the last week of the month (for monthly planning) or the job duration (for automatic planning), and going backwards.

Example: a job spans three weeks, starting with the current one. A total **ETC** value of 3 pd results in 1 pd per week. If 2.5 pd worth of time records are now entered in the first week, this results in a difference of 1.5 pd. This difference is first deducted from the last week (1 pd – 1.5 pd = 0 pd, remainder 0.5 pd). The remainder of 0.5 pd is then deducted from the second week. The resulting **ETC** spread over three weeks is 0 pd, 0.5 pd, 0 pd.

2.6.3 Filter conditions for resource plans

You can adjust the view with filters, such that completed resource plans are no longer displayed. To do this, filter by **ETC** or **Status**:

- ETC greater 0 hrs, 0 mins or
- Status not equal Completed

Use a date filter for linked jobs instead (e.g., **End – greater or equal – "Today"**) to exclude past resource plans (in **Only data records with the following links** mode).

However, please note that this can exclude open resource plans when a job has ended and isn't extended while associated resource plans haven't yet been completed.

2.6.4 Hourly rates, costs and turnover

With **Make the "Internal hourly rate" and "External hourly rate" fields available**, the following fields are also available per resource plan and resource plan detail:

- **Resource plan.Internal hourly rate** (corresponding to job type)
- **Resource plan.External hourly rate** (corresponding to job type)
- Resource plan detail.Planned costs (ETC * internal hourly rate)
- Resource plan detail.Planned turnover (ETC * external hourly rate)

2.6.5 Resource plan details in Crystal Reports

Resource plan details are available in Crystal Reports with all listed fields.

2.7 Additional fields

The **Additional fields** tab will be displayed when you select one or more data record types with currency fields: Opportunities and product items, projects and items, receipts and receipt items, service agreements and product uses as well as any data record types with custom currency fields created in the **Database** area of the Management Console.

🎯 View wiza	rd									×
Report view										
Data records	User data	Time records	Additional fields	Billing	Primary links	Visualization				
✓ Include st	atistic facto	r for receipts an	d receipt items							
Offer curr	ency fields i	n base currency	/							
🗹 Use Report	t visualizatio	n								
Report	visualization	n first	🔵 Crystal Rep	orts first						
Use Crysta	I Reports De	sign	Edit	design	Salar	t different design	n			
Design			Edit	designili	Selec		11			
2						Can	icel	< Back	Next >	Finish

 For receipts and receipt items, you specify here whether associated currency and other number fields should be weighted with the receipt's statistic factor (1 for invoices, -1 for credit notes and cancellations, 0 for sales quotes and delivery notes).

This applies to any fields of the decimal, float and int types exept for the receipt fields **Tax rate**, **Exchange rate** and **Due days** as well as the **Statistic factor** itself.

- You also determine here whether currency fields should be converted to the base currency. In this case, an additional currency field for the conversion to the base currency will be available for each currency field.
 - For receipts, you enter the respective exchange rate in the **General** tab of the associated data record window.
 - For all other data record types, you enter exchange rates per currency in the Miscellaneous area of the Management Console, under Currencies (see "8.2 Settings in the Miscellaneous area – Currencies" on page 96).

2.8 Billing

The **Billing** tab will be displayed when time records, expenses or external services are included in the analysis. Here you specify which features will be available in the **Billing** menu in the report view's toolbar and how exactly those features will operate.

If you don't activate any features of the **Billing** menu here, the menu will not be available in the report view.

View wizard X										
Report view										
Data records	User data	Time records	Additional fields	Billing	Primary links	Visualization				
Display buttons to prepare billing										
Uisplay Status	for new ite	create items for	external services,	expenses	and time recor	ds				
Time	records to b	e billed	bill intern	ally	bill ex	ternally	Change stat	us <no change=""></no>	\sim	
Exper	ises to be bi	lled	bill intern	internally Dill externally Change				us <no change=""></no>	\sim	
Exterr	nal services t	to be billed	bill intern	ally	bill ex	ternally				
Display	the button	to create vendo	or credits							
Display	button to ir	nternally bill tim	ne records							
Display	button to e	xternally bill tin	ne records							
Use Report	visualizatio	n								
Report	visualizatior	n first	Crystal Rep	oorts first						
Use Crysta	l Reports De	sign								
Design			Edit	design	Sele	ct different des	ign			
0						C	ancel	Back Next :	> Fin	iish

The individual settings and features are described in the Project user manual.

2.9 Primary links

The **Primary links** tab is displayed when primary links are active and available for at least one selected data record type.

Here you extend the selected data records with fields of their primary links. The selected primary links will be determined for every data record for which primary links are available.

🎯 View wizard		×							
Report view		@							
Data records User da	ata Time records Additional fields Billing Primary links Visualization								
Primary address	Company, Company 2, Country, First name, Form of address, Name, Postal code, Street, Title, Town, Type, is Company								
View format	Standard (public)	\sim III							
Primary project	Costs, End, Number, Person responsible, Start, Status, Subject, Type								
View format	Standard (public)	\sim III							
Primary job	Category, Duration, End, Number, Start, Status, Subject, Type								
View format	Standard (public)	\sim							
Elexible job hierar	chy								
(At least 1 levels)									
🗹 Use Report visualiz	Use Report visualization								
Report visualization first									
Use Crystal Reports Design Design Edit design Select different design									
0	Cancel < Back Next >	Finish							

 Primary address, primary project, primary job: By clicking in the respective boxes, determine which primary links should be included in the analysis.

Fields: Click here to select fields for the selected primary link.

- Transfer fields from view format: Here you adopt the fields of the selected view format.
- View format: Here you select the view format for the list.

Edit view format: Here you open the window View format for selecting and editing view formats.

Flexible job hierarchy: Select this option to analyze multiple job levels. If desired, also state the number of job levels you need in the Visualization tab for grouping. In the report view, all job levels are available with the Flexible job hierarchy setting.

2.10 Last field change

In the **Last field change** tab sheet, you select fields for which you wish to analyze latest changes.

In the report view, grouping fields will be available for the year, quarter, month, week and day of the last change.

In addition, the date of the last change will be available as display value.

🍪 View wizard	×
Report view	@
Data records Additional fields Last field change Visualization	
Identify "Changed on" for the following fields Field list	
✓ Use Report visualization	
 Report visualization first Crystal Reports first 	
Use Crystal Reports Design	
Design Edit design Select different	design
0	Cancel < Back Next > Finish

Select fields: Here you open the selection of available fields. Select the desired data record type to the top left in the Select fields window. Then select all desired fields. You may select several fields of different data record types to analyze the last field change.

imes Reset fields: Here you remove all fields from the selection.

Note

These settings are only available with the **Report: Analyses of the last field change** right. To assign this right to a user, open the Management Console and switch to the **User Management** area. The right is available for selection in the properties of a user under **Other rights**.

2.11 Visualization

In the **Visualization** tab you specify the appearance of the report view. The view's fields are determined when switching to this tab which involves a short waiting interval.

🍘 View wizard				×			
Report view							
Data records User data Time records Additional fields Bi	lling Primary	links Visualization					
Drag fields into report Filter							
উ Actual (Sum)	ount	Grouping column					
Charged (Sum)		Grouping column					
To End (Years) Group	ing row	g row Result					
The contract of the second sec		0					
🔆 End (Quarters) 👻							
Add as Grouping column							
When opening the view	Used fields						
Display analysis table	Only load those fields that are used for visualization						
Show configuration in analysis table	O Load all	O Load all selected fields					
🔿 Display chart 🥜	Limit dis	play of text fields to 50	characters				
🗹 Display data records list 🧳	Grouping of	rows	Subtotals				
Expand levels	Use com	with					
0 A Rows 0 Columns	⊖ Use table						
Use Report visualization Oractel Proved	in first						
	STIISU						
Use Crystal Reports Design			1				
Design Edit de	sign	Select different design					
0		Cancel	< Back Next >	Finish			

The list shows fields to display, to group, or to filter by.

- Available Fields
 - Selected fields of the core data records
 - Selected fields of linked data records
 - Link type, time and creator of the link
 - When using the dossier mode, shared dossier fields of the data records.
 - User description User name (long) and selected fields of addresses associated with users for time records and expenses; calculated working hours for time records
 - Selected fields of core data records' primary address, project and job
 - Function fields Deviation, Deviation %, % column and % row to display deviations and proportions in groupings.
 - When you select resource plans and activate the associated Group ETC by date option, the ETC (Sum), Start(Years), Start (Quarters), Start (Months) and Start (Weeks) fields will be available to display the ETC and group it by date.

- Insert field: To insert a new filter, group or display field, drag it to the corresponding target panel in the Visualization tab by using your mouse. Alternatively, click on the field, select the desired target panel in the menu below the field list, and click Add as.
- Remove field: To remove a field from the view, click it, hold the mouse button and drag it away from the functional panels. Alternatively, you can open the associated context menu by right-clicking on the field and by selecting **Delete**.
- **Filter:** Fields in the filter panel at the very top of the report view are connected with a menu displaying all values of the selected field. Each value can be selected in order to hide the associated data records.

You may filter and group by any fields of the following data types:

- bigint, bit, char/nchar, datetime (filter and group only by year, month, quarter, week or day), int, smallint, varchar/nvarchar
- Displayed data: The fields in the upper left below the filter panel are displayed as values in the view. By default the number of data records in a group Count is selected for display. Analyses covering different address types also offer a Company count. In addition, any number and date fields are available. Duration and currency formats are displayed in the view.

Note on time records

When you select one of the time record fields **Internal hourly rate**, **External hourly rate**, **Actual costs** or **Actual turnover**, they will automatically be determined for all time records in which these fields are empty because the time records haven't yet been billed.

The hourly rates depend on the time record's **User** and **Type**. Different hourly rates may have been entered for certain customers and projects.

The valid internal or external hourly rate, multiplied with the recorded **Actual** working time or the externally billable **Charged** working time, yields the **Actual costs** or the **Actual turnover**. These values are calculated with a precision of 4 decimals and displayed rounded to 2 decimals. When time records are billed, these values are stored with a precision of 4 decimals.

When you export data or pass data to Crystal Reports, the automatically determined values will be transferred.

The default calculation function for all fields except for date/time fields is the **Sum** of a group (e.g., total hours recorded for a project).

The default calculation function for date/time fields is the **Minimum** (earliest date).

To add or remove a calculation function, right-click on the field to open the context menu. Select the desired options from the context menu's **Function** sub menu.
teport view	al fields Bill	ing Prima	ry links Visualization		×.
Drag fields into report	Filter		,		
[®] Charged (Sum) [®] Count [®] End (Years) [®] End (Months) [®] End (Quarters) Add as Mhen opening the view Ø Display analysis table Display chart	Groupir Result	Used field O Only I Load a Limit o	Grouping column Sort order Hide configuration Remove Function Sound those fields that are used all selected fields display of text fields to 50	✓ Sum Minimum Maximum Average Characters	
Display data records list Display data records list Expand levels Rows Columns Luc Base trainedistics		Grouping Use co Use ta	of rows impact grouping ble grouping	Subtotals Display subtot	y columns with als
Use Report visualization Report visualization first Cr Use Crystal Reports Design Design	ystal Reports Edit desi	first	Select different design		

The following calculation functions are available for fields depending on their data type:

- Sum, Minimum, Maximum, Average: supported for all fields of numeric types (bigint, int, smallint, tinyint, decimal, float and money).
- Minimum, Maximum, Average: supported for date/time fields (datetime).

To display deviations and proportions in groupings, the function fields **Deviation**, **Deviation** %, % **column** and % **row** are available. Drag the desired function field to the right of a display value field to display deviations or proportions for that field.

- **Deviation:** each column group's absolute deviation from the previous one.
- **Deviation %:** each column group's percentual deviation from the previous one.
- % column: each row's percentual proportion of the column's total.
- % row: each column's percentual proportion of the row' stotal.
- Grouping column / row: These fields define the groups which are broken down along both axes of the analysis table. You may group by all fields by which you can also filter (see "Filter" on page 36).
 - Groups for date fields: For each date field, six group fields Year, Quarter, Month, Week, Day and Week day are available.

Group members are distinguished only by the specified part of date. For this reason, select **Year** first in analyses spanning multiple years. When grouping by **Day** in analyses spanning multiple months, select **Month** first.

- Groups for postal code fields: You group postal code fields by the first character, the first two or the first three characters. To do this, succesively select the group fields Postal code (1. Character), Postal code (2. Character) and Postal code (3. Character).
- Groups for product versions: In the report view, a group field is available for each part of the version separated by a dot in the Version field in tickets and product uses as well as the Version from and Version to fields in FAQ documents.
- Groups for areas: When the Area field is selected for jobs or documents, separate group fields will become available for each level of the selection tree defined for that field under Areas in the Helpdesk area of the Management Console.
- Groups for hierarchical input helps: When a field with hierarchical input helps ("Selection tree") is selected, separate group fields will become available for each level of the selection tree defined for that field in the **Database** area of the Management Console.

Note

Uninitialized fields of the bit data type are set to **NULL** in the database.

Such fields are displayed as **No**, as if they were set to **false** in the database.

- When opening the view: Here you select the display type of the report view upon opening as well as the elements displayed when opening the view.
 - **Display evaluation table:** Show report view as a table upon opening.
 - Show configuration in analysis view: Show field configuration together with the analysis table when opening the report view.

This option is only available when the **Load all selected fields** option has been selected under **Used fields** (see next page).

You can always display the field configuration once the report view is open.

- **Show chart:** Show report view as a graphic chart upon opening.Please note that this requires at least one grouping field in the Desktop Client.
- Settings for charts: Here you select the default chart types for the Desktop and Web Client. Additional chart types are available in the Web Client. You may select different chart types for both clients. If you select a chart type for the Desktop Client only, it will be used in the Web Client as well.
- **Display data records list:** Show list when opening the report view.

- Settings for list: Here you select data record types for which lists should be displayed. You also specify which list should appear first, whether empty lists should be displayed and whether the number of data records in each list is given.
- **Expand levels:** Here you specify how many grouping levels are expanded when opening the view.
- Used fields: With the Only load those fields that are used for visualization option, only fields that are either used in the vizualization or in the selected Crystal Reports Design will be loaded when opening the report view or creating a report from the template. When displaying the configuration in the report view, any other fields selected in the view properties will be loaded and can be added to the view.

In report views with link queries, the three link fields **Link name**, **Created on** and **Created by** will only be loaded directly with the **Only load those fields that are used for visualization** setting, if one of those fields is used as a display or grouping field in the view, or if the view uses a Crystal Reports Design for which the **Links** entry hasn't been removed from the selection of data record types.

- Limit display of text fields: Here you can specify a number of characters to which longer values of text fields will be shortened. The settings affect only the report view's display as a table or chart. When you export data or pass data to Crystal Reports, text fields will always be transferred completely even with this setting.
- Grouping of rows: With the Use compact grouping setting, the heading column of a sub-group will be displayed indented under the row header of its parent group. Due to the space-saving layout, more data can be displayed at once. This is the presetting for new report views.

With the **Use table grouping** setting, the heading column of a sub-group will be displayed to the right of the row header of its parent group.

 Subtotals: When you have selected several column grouping fields, you can determine whether sum columns should be displayed for expanded groups of the first level with the Display columns with subtotals option.

2.12 Using and editing a Crystal Reports Design

In the default setting the interactive **Analysis table** is displayed, which you may configure in the **Visualization** tab. Select **Use Crystal Reports Design** to create a formatted report using Crystal Reports.

🍘 View wizard		×
Report view	4	Ø
Data records Additional fields Visualization Crystal	Reports	
General Data record type Addresses	Options Dink subqueries with OR View format	
Fields Company, Company 2, Country, First 🔺 🥒 name, Form of address, Name, Postal 🗸	Standard (public) ~	3
Filter All Addresses	Precalculated values	P
Participants Search all data records which can be accessed	Calculated fields	P
Include links		
🗋 New 🗸 🖉 Edit 🗙 Delete		
Query Include	Link types	
 ✓ Use Report visualization ⑥ Report visualization first ○ Crystal ✓ Use Crystal Reports Design Design Address list 	I Reports first Edit design Select different design]
0	Cancel < Back Next > Finish	

 Use Report visualization: If you use a Crystal Reports Design, you can open the Crystal Reports Viewer from the analysis table to create a report in the embedded design from the selected data.

You can switch between the Crystal Reports Viewer and the analysis table. Each time the Viewer is opened, a new report is generated from the data selected in the analysis table at that time.

- **Report visualization first:** In the default setting, the analysis table is displayed first.
- Crystal Reports first: With this setting, a report will be generated from all data selected in the report view.
- Only display Crystal Reports: Deselect the Display analysis table option if only the Crystal Reports Viewer should be displayed instead of the analysis table.
- Select design: Select the Use Crystal Reports Design option. Then click Select different design to create a new design or select an existing one. Any design which uses only data records that are also selected in the view will fit the current report view.

🍘 Select Crystal Repo	_		×					
🗋 New 🥒 Rename	🗇 Duplicate ⊗	Deactivate 뒨 Import	🔁 Export Tools 🗸					
Name	Created by	Created on	Data record types					
Address birthday list	CAS	8/22/2019 11:45:53 AM	Addresses					
Address list	CAS	8/22/2019 11:45:52 AM	Addresses					
Address phone list	CAS	8/22/2019 11:45:53 AM	Addresses					
Address short info	CAS	8/22/2019 11:45:53 AM	Addresses					
Address single record	CAS	8/22/2019 11:45:52 AM	Addresses					
Addresses with pictures	CAS	8/22/2019 11:45:53 AM	Addresses					
Funnel	CAS	8/22/2019 4:29:02 PM	Addresses					
Display designs for all data record types								
Display deactivated	n	Cance	el					

New: Here you create a new empty design for the selected data structure.

If desired, remove data record types from the selection. The data record types will be stored with the design. You may use it only with views and templates in which all of the now selected data record types are available.

- Rename: Here you change name of the selected design.
- Duplicate: Here you create a copy of the selected design. As when creating a new design, you may remove data record types from the selection to create the copy with less data record types.
- Deactivate: Here you deactivate the selected design. It will continue to be available in views and templates which use it. However, it will no longer be displayed in the list if you don't select the Display deactivated designs option. To assign it to another view or template you must reactivate it.
- Import: Here you import a CAS genesisWorld report design file (*.gwd). It contains a list of used data record types and the embedded Crystal Reports Design file (*.rpt).
 - Replace .rpt file: Via the Tools menu in the context menu you may replace the .rpt file in the selected design. For this to work, at least one field from every data record type as well as from links, if used, must occur in the file's datasource.
- **Export:** Here you export the selected design as a CAS genesisWorld report design file (*.gwd). It contains a list of used data record types and the embedded Crystal Reports Design file (*.rpt).
 - **Export .rpt file:** Via the **Tools** menu in the context menu you may export the .rpt file without any additional data. This file may be opened and edited in the Crystal Reports Designer independently from CAS genesisWorld.
- Display deactivated designs: Select this option to display deactivated designs and reactivate them if desired.

- Display designs for all data record types: In the default setting, only designs that fit the selected data structure are displayed. Select this option to display all active designs.
- **Edit design:** With the Crystal Reports Designer and the Crystal Reports Designer Integration for CAS genesisWorld you can open the selected design here.

Along with selected fields, you may also transfer data to Crystal Reports to edit the report in the interactive preview.

Crystal Reports Design	×
Do you want to	
 transfer only fields to the Crystal Reports Designer (faster) transfer fields and data to the Crystal Reports Designer (slower) 	
OK	cel

If fields appear in the selected design which are missing from the view or template, these can then be added to the view or template or deleted from the design.

Crystal Reports Design	×
The Crystal Reports Design contains the following fields that are not contained in the current report template:	
Addresses: Salutation, Number, Account holder, Bank account, Sort code, Birthday, Birthday card, Function, Category, Christmas card, Country (delivery), Country (private), Currency, Department, Hiring	^
Do you want to	
I add these fields to the report template	
\bigcirc remove these fields from Crystal Reports Design	
OK Cance	el

Notes

A design can be used in several views and templates. Changes will affect all views and templates using the design.

When a report is created, fields used in the design will be selected automatically, even if they are not selected in the report view or template

For compatibility reasons, the CAS genesisWorld datasource cannot automatically be connected with the Crystal Reports Designer 2020. See section "2.16 Crystal Reports: Connecting datasources manually" on page 45 for connecting the datasource manually.

2.13 Crystal Reports

With the Use Crystal Reports Design option, the Crystal Reports tab is displayed.

🍪 View wizard	×
Report view	\$
Data records Additional fields Visualization Crystal Reports	
Crystal Reports Viewer Display group structure initially Document	
Options	
Document language	
Document format Rich Text Format (*.rtf)	
Archive document in CAS genesisWorld	
Use template	< ≥
One document per master data record	
Use Report visualization Report visualization first O Crystal Reports first	
✓ Use Crystal Reports Design Design Address list Edit design Select different design	
Cancel < Back Next >	Finish

- Crystal Reports Viewer: Open report in Crystal Reports Viewer application.
 - Display group structure initially: Here you specify whether the group navigator should be displayed when the Crystal Reports Viewer is opened.
- Document: Export report as a document.
 - **Document format:** Select the language for international input helps here. The client language will be used by default (database language for automatic dispatch).
 - Document format: Rich Text Format (*.rtf), Microsoft Excel (*.xls), Microsoft Excel spreadsheet (*.xlsx), CSV (*.csv), PDF (*.pdf) or Microsoft Word - editable (*.rtf).
 - Archive document in CAS genesisWorld: Select this to save the document as a data record and store its file in the archive. The created documents will be linked with the associated master data records of the report.
 - Use template: Select a document template here to transfer duplicated field values (setting in the Database area of the Management Console) from the associated data record window. The file stored with the template will be ignored.
 - Optionally, One document per master data record will be created.

2.14 Crystal Reports: Supported Versions and Features

Report supports SAP Crystal Reports in version 2013 or newer in all editions (Standard, Pro, Developer and Advanced Developer). The associated features are available in CAS genesisWorld with the Crystal Reports Integration and the SAP Crystal Reports Runtime Engine for .NET Framework (32 Bit). Both components are integral parts of the CAS genesisWorld Client and Server installations.

Without additional software, you can use the Crystal Reports Integration and the Viewer included in the Runtime Engine to view associated reports in CAS genesisWorld Clients (Desktop, Web and Mobile) and to create reports by schedule on the CAS genesisWorld Application Server.

Opening template reports in the Crystal Reports Viewer (see "5 Using report templates" on page 69), automatically exporting them in various formats and scheduling the sending of reports in any of the supported formats requires no Report license or additional software.

Editing Crystal Reports files in CAS genesisWorld requires a Report Manager license, the Crystal Reports Designer 2013 or newer and the Office program Microsoft Access 2013 or newer, both of which you must buy in addition to CAS genesisWorld and Report.

For compatibility reasons, the CAS genesisWorld datasource cannot automatically be connected with the Crystal Reports Designer 2020. See section "2.16 Crystal Reports: Connecting datasources manually" on page 45 for connecting the datasource manually.

2.15 Crystal Reports: Limitations

A maximum of 255 fields from data records and links may be transferred to Crystal Reports. Please note that, in addition to selected fields, this always includes the **GGUID** primary key field for each data record.

Per text field (char/nchar, varchar/nvarchar), a maximum of 65,534 characters will be transferred.

When editing a design, the total number of characters in text fields that are smaller than 256 characters is limited to 4,000 characters (2,000 with CAS genesisWorld x13.1.3, x12.2.3 and less recent versions) per report data record (i.e., per row in the **Report data** list).

SQL expression fields in Crystal Reports Designs are not supported in connection with the Crystal Reports Integration.

Parameter fields which require user input are only supported in the Desktop Client. The Web Client, mobile apps and server-side scheduled report dispatch only support reports that don't require user input.

The PDF export supports only TrueType fonts and TrueType collections. OpenType fonts und OpenType collections are not supported here.

2.16 Crystal Reports: Connecting datasources manually

In some cases, opening a Crystal Reports Design may cause an error that prevents the automatic connection of the datasource (e.g., if a formula in the report uses a field that is no longer included in your datasource).

Also, it is generally not possible to automatically connect the datasource with the 64 Bit Crystal Reports Designer 2020 for compatibility reasons.

In these cases, a message will indicate that the automatic connection of the dabase failed.

CAS ger	nesisWorld X
?	Hint for opening Crystal Report Designs.
	The database could not be connected to Crystal Reports automatically.
	→ Open Crystal Report Designer and manually integrate the database
D	etails Abbrechen

Click on **Details** to see more information about the message. The exact reason why the database couldn't be connected automatically will be displayed.

CAS gen	esisWorld X	
?	Hint for opening Crystal Report Designs.	
	The database could not be connected to Crystal Reports automatically.	
	Connecting databases to Crystal Reports is no longer possible automatically as of version 2020.	
	→ Open Crystal Report Designer and manually integrate the database	
(D	etails Abbrechen	

Use the following steps to manually integrate the database.

Click on Open Crystal Reports Designer and manually integrate the database.

A window opens displaying the path to the transfer database.

Copy the path to the clipboard.

CAS genesisWorld	
The data source for Crystal Reports can be accessed under the path displayed below. Please copy the path to the clipboard to insert it when manually connecting the database in Crystal Reports.	
ata\Local\Temp\genesisWorld\\CAS genesisWorld Crystal Reports Database.mdb	Undo
Next	Cut
	Сору
	Paste 13
	Delete
	Select All
	Right to left Reading order Show Unicode control characters Insert Unicode control character >
	Open IME Reconversion

Confirm by clicking on **Next**.

The design will be opened in the Crystal Reports Designer.

Open the **Database** menu and select **Set Datasource Location**.

File	Edit	View	Insert	Format	Dat	abase	Report	Window	Help	_
10	<i>6</i> -		3 👌	🗔 占 I	0	Datab	ase Exper	rt		
1	Set Datasource Location									
	<u>Ξ</u> Σ	m i	# 8			Log O	n or Off S	Server	13	

In the lower section, click on the plus icon next to the **Create New Connection** node to open it. Then open the **OLE DB (ADO)** node below it in the same way.

If associated data sources already exist, you also need to double-click on **Make New Connection**.

Set Datasource Location	\times
Change the location of the data source by selecting the current database (or table) and choosing the database (or table) to replace it with. Then click Update.	
<u>C</u> urrent Data Source:	
 □ report □ Spect □ C:\Users\sko\AppData\Local\Temp\genesisWorld\{D5799657-E459-43BF-9BF6-77E12F3DB0ED}.mdb □ Properties □ REPORTTABLE 	
Replace with:	
ADO.NET (XML) Database Files Java Beans Connectivity JDBC (JNDI) ODBC (RDO) OLAP OLLE DB (ADO) Make New Connection C:\Users\sko\AppData_cocal\Temp\genesisWorld\{D5799657-E459-43BF-9BF6-77E' ∨ <	
Close <u>H</u> elp	

To connect a datasource with Crystal Reports 2020, select the **Microsoft Office 12.0 Access Database Engine OLE DB Provider** and click on **Next**.

If you are using an older version of Crystal Reports and are connecting the datasource because of an error, select the **Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider** instead.

OLE DB (ADO)		\times
OLE DB Provider Select a provider from the lis	st or select a data link file.	
<u>P</u> rovider:	Microsoft Office 12.0 Access Database Engi Microsoft Office 16.0 Access Database Engin Microsoft OLE DB Driver for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider V	
<u>U</u> se Data Link File:		
Microsoft Data Link File:		
< Back Next >	Finish Cancel <u>H</u> elp	

Note

If the **Microsoft Office 12.0 Access Database Engine OLE DB Provider** isn't available for selection, the Microsoft Access database engine isn't installed.

Search for "Microsoft Access Database Engine 2010 Redistributable" online.

Download the 64 Bit installer and install it.

Data Source:		
		Undo
Office Database Type:		Cut
User ID:	Admin	Сору
		Paste
Password:		Delete
Jet System Database:		Select All
lat Databasa Basawardi		Right to left Reading order
Jet Database Password:		Show Unicode control characters
		Insert Unicode control character
		Open IME
		Reconversion

Paste the path you previously copied to the cliboard into the **Data Source** field.

Click on **Finish**.

Connection Information Provide necessary inform	mation to log on to the chosen data source.
<u>D</u> ata Source:	AS genesisWorld Crystal Reports Database.mdbl
<u>O</u> ffice Database Type:	~
<u>U</u> ser ID:	Admin
Password:	
Jet System Database:	
J <u>e</u> t Database Password:	

Both under **Current Data Source** and under **Replace by**, select **REPORTTABLE** and click on **Update**.

Set Datasource Location	×
Change the location of the data source by selecting the current database (or table) and choosing the database (or table) to replace it with. Then click Update.	
Current Data Source:	
 □ report □ ♀ C:\Users\sko\AppData\Local\Temp\genesisWorld\{D37E6E17-1D74-441A-88E4-AE94ABAE0A94}.mdb □ ≌ Properties □ ■ REPORTTABLE 	
Replace with:	
JDBC (JNDI) JDBC (JNDI)	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$
	15
Make New Connection	
Given Source (App Data Local Temp genesis World CAS genesis World Crystal Reports	
Ž Add Command	
Close <u>H</u> elp	

The datasource will be connected and you can edit the Crystal Reports Design as usual.

Notes

When you edit the same design again, it will retain the selected datasource.

As we cannot check this when opening the design, the error message will still be displayed when trying to connect the datasource with Crystal Reports 2020. You can ignore it in this case.

Additionally, the path to the "CAS genesisWorld Crystal Reports Database.mdb" datasource in your Temp folder will be retained under **My Connections**. The same path is used for all designs for which the automatic connection fails. Therefore, you only need to go through all steps listed here once. For any subsequent reports, it is sufficient to select **Set Datasource Location** in the **Database** menu and replace the upper **REPORTTABLE** by the table of the same name listed below under **My Connections**, "CAS genesisWorld Crystal Reports Database.mdb", via **Update**.

3 Report views in the Desktop Client

When you click on the corresponding node in the program navigator, the report view opens with the selected default settings.

0		🗊 🔹 Searc	:h		⊻				-	o ×
<u>File Edit View Insert Search Tools ?</u>										
역 New 🔹 🗹 Write e-mail 🗔 Address wizard	역. Global search ㆍ									0
Peter Grayhound	Projects actual / charged									
බ Dashboard		Configuration 📰 List 🛛 🖾 Billing	y 🗸 🕞 Export 🗸 🔒 Rep	port 🚸 Edit design						
 Project management & helpdesk (public) 	Filter									
> 🗄 Calendar and activities	Actual (Sum) 🖂 🛱 Charged (S	Sum) 🔄 🛱 Start (Veser) 🔹 🖃	753 Start (Monthe)	3						
> 🗇 Address management	(Changed (Sound)	v 2022	() start (montal) =					Total 2022		
マー Project management		October	1	November		December				
	🗟 Subject (Prir 🔺 🔄 🕲 Subject (I	Prir 🔺 🔄 Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	
Project dashboard	CAS genesisWorld for Computear	m Inc. 0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00	mins
he Project status	CAS genesisWorld for Devemit Ltr	d. 1 PD, 6 HR, 30 mins	1 PD, 6 HR, 30 mins	9 PD, 7 HR, 30 mins	9 PD, 7 HR, 30 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	11 PD, 6 HR, 00 mins	11 PD, 6 HR, 00	mins
S Active projects current year	 Software development for NUMU Software development for Penthe 	arilea 2 PD 4 HR 00 mins	2 PD 4 HR 00 mins	0 PD, 5 HK, 45 mins	7 PD, 0 HR, 45 mins 0 HR 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	2 PD 4 HR 00 mins	2 PD 4 HR 00	mins
-	Result	11 PD, 2 HR, 15 mins	11 PD, 3 HR, 30 mins	16 PD, 5 HR, 15 mins	17 PD, 0 HR, 15 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	29 PD, 2 HR, 30 mins	29 PD, 6 HR, 45	mins
H My top consulting projects										
Projects at risk	Time records (58) Primary address ((4) Primary project (4) Primary jo	b (7) Report data (58)							
Map view of my projects	Subject ~ Filter for									
🛍 Project report	→ Action - 🖻 Short notes 🗠	리 Send ㆍ 屔 Link with ㆍ 샤 No	ew link 🝷 🗟 Report	🕮 Map						
> 🗀 Resource planning										
✓ ☐ Time records	To group the column headers, drag	g them to this area.								
🐻 Time record calendar	User Su	ubject	Туре	Start N	,	End		Actual	C	narged
Projects actual / charged	Robert Glade Pr	roject meeting	Project management	12/8/2	022 10:01:52 AM	12/8/2022 1	1:31:52 AM	1 HR, 30 mins	1 HR, 3	0 mins
IIa Projects costs / turnover	Antonio Matarazzo So	oftware customization	Programming	12/5/2	022 8:00:00 AM	12/5/2022 1	:00:00 PM	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 0	0 mins
Projects nominal / actual	Robert Glade Re	eview of requirements	Conception	12/1/2	022 3:00:00 PM	12/1/2022 4	1:30:00 PM	1 HR, 30 mins	1 HR, 3	0 mins
b Employees actual / charged	Robert Glade Pr	roject meeting	Project management	12/1/2	022 10:01:52 AM	12/1/2022 1	1:31:52 AM	1 HR, 30 mins	1 HR, 3	0 mins 🧅
	-								PM	1 - EXAMPLE

The following sections describe the features of the view in the Desktop Client:

- 3.1 Manager license and Client license (page 52)
- 3.2 View (page 52)
 - 3.2.1 Table (page 53)
 - 3.2.2 Chart (page 55)
- 3.3 List and selection in table and chart (page 56)
- 3.4 Editing, saving or resetting the configuration (page 56)
- 3.5 Refreshing the view (page 57)
- 3.6 Printing the view (page 57)
- 3.7 Exporting data (page 58)
- 3.8 Report with Crystal Reports (page 59)
- 3.9 Editing a Crystal Reports Design (page 60)

3.1 Manager license and Client license

The following sections describe all features available in report views with a Manager license. With a Client license, the following features will not be available:

- Context menu for a grouping fields (sorting by group size instead of by group name and hiding/combining of smaller groups via **Top values**)
- Context menu for display values (function Sum/Minimum/Maximum/Average)
- Change or Save the Configuration (remove or add grouping fields and display values)
- Editing a Crystal Reports Design

All other features will also be available with a client license, such as:

- Limited regrouping of filter, display and grouping fields via drag-and-drop:
 - Within an area (filter, display values, grouping row, grouping column)
 - In between grouping areas for row and column
 - From a grouping area to the filter area and back

Moving fields that are initially in the filter area to a grouping area is not supported.

- Export (with the **Export** other right), create a **Report** with Crystal Reports
- Bill time records and preparation for billing (with the Project module and writing permissions for the time record fields Internally/Externally billed on/by)

3.2 View

The report view supports two view types **Table** and **Chart**. Please note that charts can only be displayed with at least one grouping field in the Desktop Client.

View: Here you switch between both view types.

The table can be configured via the functional panels and fields directly in the view and serves for configuring the charts. You can also export it in different formats or print it out.

3.2.1 Table

The analysis table displays the set values and groups.

@					⊵					\times
Eile Edit View Insert Search Iools 2										
☑ New ▼ ☑ Write e-mail									0	
🖺 🕤 😌 🖨 💿 View 🗸 🔟 Configurat	tion 🎟 List 🛛 🖽 Billin	g 🗸 🕞 Export 🗸 💽 R	eport 💠 Edit design							
🖏 User 🔄										
🖏 Actual (Sum) 💿 🤯 Charged (Sum) 💌	उ Start (Years) 🔺 🔄	🗑 Start (Months) 🔺								
	✓ 2022						Total 2022			
	October		November		December					
🚡 Subject [Prir 🔺 🔄 🕲 Subject [Prir 🔺 🔄	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)		
CAS genesisWorld for Computeam Inc.	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR,	00 min	s
> CAS genesisWorld for Devemit Ltd.	1 PD, 6 HR, 30 mins	1 PD, 6 HR, 30 mins	9 PD, 7 HR, 30 mins	9 PD, 7 HR, 30 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	11 PD, 6 HR, 00 mins	11 PD, 6 HR,	00 min	s
> Software development for NOMOSYS Inc.	6 PD, 7 HR, 45 mins	7 PD, 1 HR, 00 mins	6 PD, 5 HR, 45 mins	7 PD, 0 HR, 45 mins	6 HR, 00 mins	6 HR, 00 mins	14 PD, 3 HR, 30 mins	14 PD, 7 HR,	45 min	s
> Software development for Penthesilea	2 PD, 4 HR, 00 mins	2 PD, 4 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	2 PD, 4 HR, 00 mins	2 PD, 4 HR,	00 min	s
Result	11 PD, 2 HR, 15 mins	11 PD, 3 HR, 30 mins	16 PD, 5 HR, 15 mins	17 PD, 0 HR, 15 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	29 PD, 2 HR, 30 mins	29 PD, 6 HR,	45 min	s

The following features for modifying the view are available directly in the table.

Filter: All fields have a small arrow button to the right of the field name. Click on this button to hide data records with certain values in this field.

A set filter is indicated by a black arrow. If you remove a field from the view, any associated filters will be deleted.

- Sort: Click on a grouping field to reverse the sorting order for the associated group. This also applies when the group is sorted by display values.
 - Sort by display values: By default, groups are sorted by names. For example, when grouping by company names, associated values will be sorted by company names alphabetically.

Via the context menu for a column or row header, you may sort a row or column group by the display values of the associated colummn or row instead.

@	■ • Search			⊻		_		×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> earch	Tools ?							
🖸 New 🝷 🗹 Write e-mail 🗊 Add	ress wizard Q Globa	al search 👻						0
	tion 📼 List 🕅 Rilling	B. Export B. Pr	nort 🔺 Edit docian					
		V G Export V 🖲 Ke	port 👽 Edit design					
Filter								
🐼 Actual (Sum) 🕞	उ User 🔺 💌							
😫 Subject [Prir 🔺 💌 🕲 Subject [Prir 🔺 💌	Antonio Matarazzo	Michael Green	Peter Gravbound	Robert Gla	le	Result		
> CAS genesisWorld for Computeam Inc.	5 HR, 00 mir	Sort "Subject [Prima	y project]" by this colum	in 0	HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 0	0 mins	
> CAS genesisWorld for Devemit Ltd.	1 PD, 2 HR, 00 mir	Sort "Subject [Prima	y job]" by this column	0	HR, 00 mins	11 PD, 6 HR, 0	0 mins	
> Software development for NOMOSYS Inc.	4 PD, 2 HR, 15 mins	3 HR, 45 mins	9 PD, 1 HR, 00 mins	4	HR, 30 mins	14 PD, 3 HR, 3	0 mins	
> Software development for Penthesilea	2 PD, 4 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	0	HR, 00 mins	2 PD, 4 HR, 0	0 mins	
Result	8 PD, 5 HR, 15 mins	3 HR, 45 mins	19 PD, 5 HR, 00 mins	4	HR, 30 mins	29 PD, 2 HR, 3	0 mins	

Via the **Sorting** sub-menu of the context menu for a grouping field, you may switch between sorting by group names (**Field value**) and display values.

When selecting a display value, the sorting last selected for it will be applied.

If no sorting was selected for that value yet, the table will be sorted by the result row or column.

@	· ·	Search			$\overline{\nabla}$	-		\times
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> earch <u>I</u>	<u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>							
🖸 New 👻 🗹 Write e-mail 🗊 Addr	ess wizard	Q Global search →						0
🖺 🕤 🧐 💩 View ~ 🔟 Configurat	ion 📰 List	Billing ∨ Export	~ 🌢	Report 💠 Edit design				
Filter								
🐼 Actual (Sum) 🔻	ঊ User _▲	~						
		Sort order	·					
🕒 Subject (Prir 🔺 🕥 🥥 Subject (Prir 🔺 🕥	Antonio I	Display configuration		Peter Grayhound	Robert Glade	Result		
 CAS genesisWorld for Computeam Inc. 	:	Permove	min	s 0 HR, 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00	mins	
> CAS genesisWorld for Devemit Ltd.	1 PD, 2	Keniove	min	= 10 PD / HR 00 mins	0 HR, 00 mins	11 PD, 6 HR, 00	mins	
Software development for NOMOSYS Inc.	4 PD, 2	Sorting	~	Field value	4 HR, 30 mins	14 PD, 3 HR, 30	mins	
Software development for Penthesilea	2 PD, 4	Top values		Time records: Actual (Sur	m) 0 HR, 00 mins	2 PD, 4 HR, 00	mins	
Result	8 PD, 5 HR	t, 15 mins 3 HR, 4	15 min	s 19 PD, 5 HR, 00 mins	4 HR, 30 mins	29 PD, 2 HR, 30	mins	

 Top values: With the Top values feature, you may hide all values except for the first ones in your set sort order. To do so, select the Top values option in the context menu of the associated grouping field. With the Show others together option, the hidden entries will be combined in the Others group.



- Group: Move group fields around by dragging and dropping them with your mouse in order to change the grouping order. Alternatively you change the position of a group field via the sub-menu Sequence in the associated context menu.
- > **Expand sub-groups:** Here you expand all sub-groups of a group. In the context menu you also have the option to expand all sub-groups for all groups of one level.
- **Hide sub-groups:** Here you hide all sub-groups of a group. In the context menu you also have the option to conceal all sub-groups for all groups of one level.
- Change column width: Click on the right border of a column header and drag the border to the desired position using your mouse. The result column width can't be changed. Sub-groups must be expanded in order to adjust the width of their columns.
- Options for display values: If you have selected multiple display values you change their sequence by dragging and dropping them with your mouse. Alternatively you change their sequence via the sub-menu Sequence in the associated context menu. For display values the context menu also offers the sub-menu Function. Here you select the calculation function for the display value: Sum, Minimum, Maximum or Average.

3.2.2 Chart

Click on the **View** button or select the **Chart** option in the associated menu in order to display the analysis table in a graphic chart. Please note that charts can only be displayed with at least one grouping field in the Desktop Client.

- The chart adopts all set groups and display values including their sorting order.
- Expanded sub-groups are broken down.
- Hidden sub-groups are not displayed.

@		Search		⊵	- 🗆 X
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> d ⊠ New	it <u>V</u> iew Insert <u>S</u> earch Io ▼ ☑ Write e-mail Addres @ View ~ Configuration	ols <u>?</u> ss wizard Q Global n List 🎘 Billing	search 🔹 ~ 🕞 Export ~ 🕑 Report 🚸 Edit	: design	Ø
18000 16000 14000 12000 10000 8000 6000 4000 2000 0 CAS g	4. 250.00 650.00 enesisWorld for Computeam Inc. CAS genes	13,720.00	16,967.50	2,600.00 1,000.00 development for Penthesilea	Column chart Area chart Area chart layers Bar chart Column chart Layered bar chart Layered column chart Line chart Line chart Pie chart
Time record	s (58) Primary address (4) Primary p	project (4) Primary job	(7) Report data (58)		
→ Action	• 🖻 Short notes 🗹 Send • ໔	६ Link with 🕶 🖧 Nev	v link 👻 🗟 Report 🕮 Map		
To group t	he column headers, drag them to th	iis area.			
User	Subject		Туре	Start 🗸	End
Robert Glad	le Project meetin	ng	Project management	12/8/2022 10:01:52 AM	12/8/2022 11:31:52 AM
Antonio Ma	tarazzo Software custo	omization	Programming	12/5/2022 8:00:00 AM	12/5/2022 1:00:00 PM
Robert Glad	le Review of requ	uirements	Conception	12/1/2022 3:00:00 PM	12/1/2022 4:30:00 PM
					PM01 - EXAMPLE

 Select presentation mode: in the menu on the far upper right you select the desired mode of presentation: Area chart, Horizontal bar chart, Line chart, Pie chart or Vertical bar chart.

Additionally, layered area and bar charts are available.

3.3 List and selection in table and chart

In the embedded lists, you see the selected data records and links.

When you open the report view, the list displays at most 1000 data records. If more than 1000 data records are included in the report view, you can load the missing data records by selecting them, as described under **Selecting all report data**.

- Display/hide list: Here you display or hide the list. A separate list is displayed for each data record type. The Report data list shows all data records and links in the report view and relates them to each other. When exporting report data to Microsoft Excel or Microsoft Access, the result looks exactly like the Report data list.
- Selecting data and resetting the selection in the table: Select cells of the analysis table in order to show only data records of the selected cells in the list.
 - **Selecting a group:** Click a row or column header or in the associated sum field in order to select all data records of the corresponding group.
 - **Selecting a section:** Click in a cell of the analysis table, hold the mouse button and drag the mouse pointer to another cell in order to select a rectangular section.
 - Making multiple selections: If you wish to extend an existing selection with other cells, hold the [Ctrl] key while you select the cells you wish to add.
 - Selecting all report data: Click in the sum cell to the bottom lower right in order to select all report data, reset the selection.
- Selecting data in the chart: Click a chart segment in order to show only data records of that segment in the list. When the view is displayed as a chart, it is not possible to reset the selection.
- View formats: You can select list view formats for the individual data record types in the report view's properties. Switching to another view format in the view is possible, but this change can't be saved. Modifying view formats in the report view and saving such changes is possible with appropriate rights.

3.4 Editing, saving or resetting the configuration

Via the toolbar in the report view you access the field list, save the configuration of the report view or reset it.

Configuration: Here you display or hide the field list. Using the field list you can add fields to filter or group by or to display (see "2.11 Visualization" on page 35).

B Save configuration: Here you save changes made to the configuration in the view:

- Filter fields (hidden values are not saved)
- Group fields, sequence and sorting
- Display values and associated calculation functions

This feature is only supported for report views and templates. Settings of reports placed with Form Designer can only be changed in the Management Console.

here you load the settings from the view's properties.

3.5 Refreshing the view

Refresh the view in order to adopt changes.

Sefresh: Here you reload the report view. In the process all data records and links are read through again.

3.6 Printing the view

You can print out the analysis table and the charts. The **Print** option in the **File** menu is not supported here. Please use the **Print** button in the view's toolbar for printing the view.

Print: Here you print the current view. The Print window opens.

- **Page layout:** Here you specify the page format, the printing order, the borders and content positioning, the header and footer design and the scaling.
- Print preview: Here you open the print preview for the report. In the preview, a variety of options are available for formatting the report. Please note that you can't adjust the set column width in this view. The following formatting options are available here:
 - Editing the borders: In the print preview, you edit page borders with your mouse.
 - Table format report (menu File > Format or the cog icon):
 - View: Here you display or hide the Filter, Displayed data, Grouping row and Grouping column panels, the buttons for the expanding of sub-groups as well as the lines and borders.
 - Behaviour: Here you display all column or row groupings. If these options are not selected, only the groups displayed in the report view are shown.
 - Formatting: Here you specify the appearance of lines and colours.
 - Style: Here you specify font and background styles.
 - Chart format report (menu File > Format or the cog icon):
 - Behaviour: Here you specify whether the width should be adjusted to the page borders automatically.
 - Charts: Here you specify whether the background colour should be plain or transparent.
 - Menu Format
 - Title: Here you specify text and formatting of the title.

- Date and time: Here you specify the format for dates and times.
- Page numbers: Here you specify the numbering format for page numbers and the number of the first page.
- **Fit to page:** Here you switch between the original size that may be several pages and a version scaled to one page.
- **Background:** Here you format the page background.
- Saving and opening reports: In the File menu, you can save formatted reports as RPS files and open existing RPS files. In the RPS file, any set printing formats and all report data are stored.

3.7 Exporting data

The **Export** menu is only displayed if you have export rights. Here you export the anaylsis table or the selected report data.

Export report to Excel, as XML or as HTML: You are prompted to specify a name for the target file. The analysis table is transferred to the selected target format in its current configuration.

Note

For exporting a report view to Excel, two modes are available:

The data-based mode faithfully transfers the view's data structure to Excel and is better suited for processing the data. However, this mode is limited to a maximum of each 8 row and column groups.

The format-based mode faithfully transfers the view's layout to Excel and isn't suited as well for processing the data. However, this mode isn't limited to each 8 row and column groups.

When exporting duration fields (e.g., **Actual** of time records) in the format-based mode, you will be asked if you would like to export the fields as formatted text (in person days, hours and minutes) or as numbers (in 24 hour days).

Export report data to Excel, to Access, as XML or as CSV: The selected report data are transferred to a new excel spreadsheet, an Access database, an xml file or a csv file, as displayed in the Report data list.

Duration fields will be exported as floating point numbers in 24 hour days.

3.8 Report with Crystal Reports

The **Report with Crystal Reports** button is only available if you have embedded a Crystal Reports document in the report view as described in "2.12 Using and editing a Crystal Reports Design" on page 40.

Report with Crystal Reports: Here you create a Crystal Reports document from the selected data and the embedded design.

In the report view's properties, you specify in the **Crystal Reports** tab whether the report will be opened in the viewer or exported as a file and opened in the associated application (see "**Fehler! Verweisquelle konnte nicht gefunden werden. Fehler! Ve rweisquelle konnte nicht gefunden werden.**" on page **Fehler! Textmarke nicht definiert.**).



- Export report: Here you store the report in a file. Among others, the formats RTF, Excel and PDF are supported.
- Print report: Here you print the report.
- Refresh: This button regenerates the report from the report view's data. To reload the data from CAS genesisWorld, you have to close the Crystal Reports viewer via the Report view's toolbar, refresh the report view and reopen the Crystal Reports viewer.
- Copy: Here you copy selected report objects to the clipboard.

- Toggle parameter panel: Here you access the report's parameter fields, if it has any. In this case, you can edit all parameter fields on the fly.
- **Toggle group tree:** Here you access the group tree, if the reports has any groups. Select an item in the group tree to go directly to that group.
- Page navigation: Use the arrows pointing left and right and the associated editable field in order to switch between the report's pages.
- ⁴⁰ Find text: Click on this to search for text and/or numbers in the report.
- Zoom: Click this button to specify the zoom factor.

3.9 Editing a Crystal Reports Design

With the Crystal Reports Designer and the Crystal Reports Designer Integration, you can open the Crystal Reports Designer directly from the report view.

Edit design: Here you open the embedded design with the selected data in the Crystal Reports Designer (see "2.12 Using and editing a Crystal Reports Design" on page 40).

Notes

A design can be used in several views and templates. Changes will affect all views and templates using the design.

When a report is created, fields used in the design will be selected automatically, even if they are not selected in the report view or template.

For compatibility reasons, the CAS genesisWorld datasource cannot automatically be connected with the Crystal Reports Designer 2020. See section "2.16 Crystal Reports: Connecting datasources manually" on page 45 for connecting the datasource manually.

4 Report views in the Web Client

In CAS genesisWorld Web, you access report views via the **Reports** app and via list views.

- 4.1 Report views in the Reports app (page 61)
- 4.2 Report views with a Crystal Reports Design (page 62)
- 4.3 Report views for list views (page 63)
- 4.4 View sections (page 64)
- 4.5 Chart features (page 64)
- 4.6 Analysis table features (page 65)
- 4.7 List features (page 66)
- 4.8 Other view options (page 67)
- 4.9 Differences to the Desktop Client (page 68)

4.1 Report views in the Reports app

In the **Reports** app, you have access to report views in your Desktop Client navigator.

Ch ← ■ Reports +	⑦ ⊒
Q Apps	Reports
Contacts Customers Employee Suppliers Appointment	Q \$earch Favorites
Birthdays	Acquisition expense > Billing > Project revenue >
Unternehmens- verzeichnis E-mails E-mail campaigns Events Holidays	All reports
Leads Opportunities Phone calls Questionnaires	Active prospects with call
Tasks <	Billing > Billing > Bills of expenses for customers > Bills of expenses for employees >
Administration Recycle bin	Campaigns by quarter > Campaign turnover > Cam

First, your favorites will be displayed (see "4.8 Other view options" on page 67). Next, any other report views in your CAS genesisWorld Desktop Client navigator will be displayed. The selection is sorted alphabetically. You may limit the selection via the search field.

4.2 Report views with a Crystal Reports Design

Instead of the interacive analysis table with chart and data record list described in the following sections, you can also display a Crystal Reports Design as a pdf or export it in one of the supported formats.



You need to configure this in the view properties in the CAS genesisWorld Desktop Client (see section "2.12 Using and editing a Crystal Reports Design" on page 40 and following).

With the **Use Report visualization** option in the view properties, you determine whether the analysis table should be available in addition to the Crystal Reports Design and if so, which should be the starting view. In this case, you can switch between both views via the action menu with the three dots at the top right of the report view.

	Q (?) 📑
Addresses with pictures	∞ ☆
1 / 46 - 90% + 🕄 🔊	Display as analysis table

As the Crystal Reports Viewer isn't available in CAS genesisWorld Web, the report will be displayed as a PDF in your web browser with the associated setting, same as when it is set up for export as a PDF. With the buttons at the top right, you can download or print the report. Reports set up to be exported in other formats will be downloaded directly instead.

Note

Please note that filtering Crystal Reports Designs by a selection of data records in the analysis table as well as setting up and editing Crystal Reports Designs aren't supported in CAS genesisWorld Web.

4.3 Report views for list views

To open a **Report view** for the data records displayed in a saved list view, open the **View menu** and select the **Report view** option.

🕥 🔶 🔳 Our customers	+			?	$ \rightarrow $
Q Search	\square	🗄 Our customers		••••	+
Board view		Sector	Country	Postal code	
Display available views		Transport	United Kingdom	M15 5PN	>
Ø Edit view	>	Consulting	United Kingdom	BS5 9SP	>
Map view		Service	United Kingdom	SW7 2PH	>
Report view		IT and Telecommunications	United Kingdom	SE1 9RT	>
		Real Estate	Spain	28056	>
		Real Estate	Italy	00144	>
Select columns		Service	Germany	10117	>

Notes

This feature is only available for saved list views listed under **Views** in the associated app, including combined list views. It isn't available for list views with a link filter or list views that are currently filtered via the **Search...** field.

The opened view always includes all data records from the list view. Selecting data records via the checkboxes in the first column has no effect.

With **Save changes**, all settings will be saved and restored when next opening the view.

Settings are saved per list view and user, such that other users can't overwrite settings you have saved for a public view.

For your own views, clicking on **Save changes** will also save changes you made to filter settings. For public views, you can only save changes made to filter settings in the associated navigator in the Desktop Client. However, changes you make to filter settings will still be applied when switching between the list, board, report and timeline views. Reopening the list view out of the app start will reset its filter.

In the report view, you have access to the usual features and configuration options (see sections "4.4 View sections" to "4.8 Other view options" on page 64 to 67).

With a Manager license, all fields of the associated data record type are available in the **Field selection**. Without a Manager license, all columns of the list view are available here.



4.4 View sections

Report views in the Web Client are split up in up to three sections:

- At the top left, a **Chart** is displayed.
 - Via Properties in the View menu at the top left, you can display or hide the chart and select the presentation mode (see "4.5 Chart features" on page 64).
- At the lower left, the interactive **Analysis table** is displayed.
 - Without the chart, the analysis table takes the full height.
 - Without the list, the analysis table takes the full width.
- At the right, the List of associated data records is displayed.
 - You may display or hide the list via the arrow button at ist left edge.

4.5 Chart features

You have access to the following features in the chart:

- Filter list: Select a chart segment to display only associated data records in the list.
- Via Properties in the View menu at the top left, you can display or hide the chart and select the desired presentation mode:
 - Area charts (area chart, discrete, stacked, spline, stacked spline, 100% stacked, 100% stacked spline)

- Horizontal bar charts (horizontal bar chart, stacked, 100% stacked)
- Line charts (line chart, discrete, stacked, 100% stacked)
- **Pie charts** (pie chart, doughnut chart, stacked doughnut chart)
- Radar chart (filled radar chart, radar chart with lines, radar chart with points)
- Vertical bar charts (vertical bar chart, stacked, 100% stacked)
- More charts (funnel chart, pyramid diagram, scatter plot)

The 100% charts scale row groups percentually. Different groups may be scaled differently. This way, the percentual distribution of column groups is displayed.

4.6 Analysis table features

The analysis table offers the same features for selecting fields, filtering, grouping and sorting as the Desktop Client. For views configured in the Desktop Client and opened via the **Reports** app, most of the configuration saved for the view in the Desktop Client will be applied in the Web Client (see "4.9 Differences to the Desktop Client" on page 68).

Saving changes made to **Reports** app views in the Web Client is not possible.

You have access to the following features in the analysis table:

- **Filter list:** Click on analysis table cells to filter the right hand side list, such that it displays only associated data records. Hold the [Ctrl] key while clicking to add a cell to the selection or remove a selected cell from the selection.
- **Show sub-groups:** An arrow on a group name field indicates that the group has subgroups. Click on the arrow to display or hide its sub-groups.
- Sort by group name: Click on the arrow on a grouping field to sort by it or reverse the sorting order.
- Sort by display value: Right-click a row or column header to open a context menu for sorting the table by the values in that row or column or to reset the sorting order.
 Select the sorting option again to reverse the sorting order.
- **Filter table:** Click on the funnel icon on a grouping or filtering field to open a list of its values. Then select the values to display.
- Display field names: Via Properties in the View menu at the top left, you can hide field names (column and row headers) to make better use of the space reserved for the analysis table.

Please note that the **Sort by group name**, **Filter table** and **Remove field** features aren't available while this mode is active.

 Change filter fields, grouping fields and display values: Drag fields to the desired target areas in order to filter (topmost area), to group (above column or row headers), or to change display values (upper left corner of the analysis table). Add field: Via Field selection, you can select filtering fields, grouping fields and display values as well as the desired functions for the latter (Average, Maximum, Minimum or Sum). Fields are grouped by data record type.

In report views opened out of the Reports app, this requires a Report Manager license.

• **Remove field:** Right-click a filtering or grouping field or a display value and select the **Hide field** option to remove that field.

4.7 List features

You have access to the following features in the right hand side list:

- Via the arrow button at its left edge, you display or hide the list.
- In reports with multiple data record sets, select the data records to display in the menu above the list. In the Desktop client, in the view's properties under Visualization, you can select to display the number of data records per list (Display data records list > Show number of data records in the tab).
- For performance reasons, the list displays a maximum of 500 data records. Initially, all data records will be displayed, if within the maximum. Otherwise, the first 500 data records will be displayed.

Click on analysis table cells to filter the list, such that it displays only associated data records. Hold the [Ctrl] key while clicking to add a cell to the selection or remove a selected cell from the selection.

As without a selection, up to 500 data records will be displayed with an active filter.

Via the arrow button at the top right above the list, you open the associated data records in the extended list view, which displays up to 9,999 data records

For reports opened via the **Reports** app, this list uses the view format configured for the associated data records in the report view's properties in the Desktop Client.

For reports opened out of a list view, the list uses the format configured for that view.

• Click on a data record in the list to open it in the associated detail view.

4.8 Other view options

You have access to the following other view options in the menu bar above the view:

 \equiv In report views opened out of other views, you can switch to the following views here:

- Board view
- Map view
- Timelie view

Here you reload the data without resetting any changes you made to the view such as grouping and filters.

For report views opened out of the **Reports** app, you can also reload the data without resetting changes by refreshing via the browser. For reports opened out of a list view, refreshing via the browser has no effect on the data or settings.

In report views opened out of a list view, click there to edit the filter settings for the report view as well as the associated list, board and timeline view.

Switching between these views will temporarily retain changes made to filter settings.

When you reopen a list view out of the app start, unsaved changes made to the filter for the list and other associated views will be reset.

For your own views, clicking on **Save changes** will also save changes you made to filter settings. For public views, you can only save changes made to filter settings in the associated navigator in the Desktop Client.

000

In report views with a Crystal Reports Design for which this has been activated in the view properties in the CAS genesisWorld Desktop client, you can open the respective other view, analysis table or Crystal Reports, here (see "4.2 Report views with a Crystal Reports Design" on page 62).

^{••••} With export rights, you may export the analysis table and chart here:

- Analyses table as Excel
- Diagram as PDF
- Diagram as PNG
- Diagram as SVG

Here, you can add report views opened out of the **Reports** app to your favorites. In the **Reports** app, your favorites will be listed before other report views.

4.9 Differences to the Desktop Client

The following Desktop Client features are not supported in the Web Client:

- Configuration of view properties
- Saving changes of filtering fields, grouping fields, display values and filters
- Saving of sort orders and filters by group names selected in the view
- Loading of sorting by field values
- Changing the column width (automatically assigned as needed)
- Table grouping (the compact grouping will always be used)
- Subtotals (automatically displayed for groups that have more than one subgroup)
- Field filters for data fields (e.g., **Probability in %** = 100).
- Sorting by top values
- Pie charts for column groups or multiple display values (only works with row groups)
- Deviation, Deviation %, % column, % row function fields
- Exporting the report data (you can only export the analysis table and the chart.)
- Exporting duration fields like Actual of time records as numbers to Microsoft Excel (they will always be exported as formatted text, in person days, hours and minutes.)
- Opening a Crystal Reports Design with a selection of data records (Crystal Reports Designs will always include all data records.)
- Printing the view (you may use your browser's print feature)
- Prepare billing

5 Using report templates

Use report templates to create report views and perfectly formatted Crystal Reports documents for one or more data records in the Desktop Client and in the Web Client.

- 5.1 Creating a report in the Desktop Client (page 69)
- 5.2 Creating a report for a single data record in the Web Client (page 70)
- 5.3 Creating a report for multiple data records in the Web Client (page 71)
- 5.4 Creating and editing report templates (page 72)
- 5.5 Defining favorites (page 72)
- 5.6 Editing a template (page 73)
- 5.7 Report records and automatic report dispatch (page 74)

5.1 Creating a report in the Desktop Client

Report templates for a data record type are available when clicking on the **Report** button in the toolbar of the associated data record window or a list.

✓ Open the desired data record or select data records in a list.

✓ Click on the **Report** button in the toolbar of the data record window or list.

The Create new report window opens.

🗎 Create report			\times
Report templates Select a template for the report you want to create.			≣
🗋 Create new 🖉 Edit 🗇 Duplicate 🛛 Delete 휜 Import 뎡 Export			
E Favorites			5
🖿 Compare nominal/actual			
🕼 Expenses			
🖿 External services			
Lu Resource planning			
III: Time records			
Other report templates			10
Bill of expenses for customers			
Bill of expenses for employees			
Detail view for Projects			
🖻 Invoice			
List for Projects			
🖻 Project report			
Work report			
Work report for Support			
Work report including expenses			
Work report including expenses and analyses			
	reate report	Cano	el

✓ Select the desired template and click on **Create report**.

Depending on the template's settings, one of the following actions is executed.

- Create a report view
- Create a Crystal Reports document (also available without a Report module license)
 - Open in Crystal Reports Viewer
 - Export in RTF, Excel or PDF format and open in the associated application
 - Export, store in Document Archive and open in data record window

5.2 Creating a report for a single data record in the Web Client

In the Web Client, you can create reports for a single data record in the detail view:

✓ Click on the three dots at the top right to open the action menu.

✓ Select **Display report**.

n 🔶 🖪 Dr. Jack Bauer	+					?	
Contacts		C	ustomer		000	C	Edit
Dr. Jack Bauer NOMOSYS Inc. The Consulting Comp	Dr. Jack Ba ceo	uer		Add to distribution list		Customer	
	G	NOMOSYS Inc. The Consulting Company 123 Jeremy Street SW1 4UH London United Kingdom	S	Copy to clipboard			
			S	Create	>		
				Display change log			
				Display report			
	Contact pe	erson dossier 🗸	Co	Duplicate	>		

✓ Select the desired report template.

斺 🔶 🖪 Dr. Jack Bauer	+	? ⊒
Contacts Dr. Jack Bauer	Cancel Select report	
NOMOSYS Inc. The Consulting Comp	Q Şearch	Customer
	Address dossier with opportunities and receipts	
	Address short info	
	Adresses with picture	

The Web Client supports the same actions here as the Desktop Client (see above).

As for report views in the app, you can switch view modes (analysis table or Crystal Reports) via the action menu with the three dots for templates supporting this.

5.3 Creating a report for multiple data records in the Web Client Via list views, you can create reports to multiple selected data records.

- To do this, first select the desired data records by checking the respective boxes in the first list column.
- Then open the action menu by clicking on the three dots at the top right and select the **Display report** action.

	mpany conta				? ⊡
S Close = _	Search	🗸 Comp	pany contacts	000	■ ► +
is Company	Company 1 🕈	Town	Delete		
	ACC Technics Ltd	Manchester	Display report		Î
	ACC Technics Ltd	Manchester	Distribution list	>	1
	Agency CCC	Bristol	Export		
	Agency CCC	Bristol	Link with	>	
	Birnbaum & Hempel UK	London	More actions		
	CAS Software UK	London	Brenda Giadis		

✓ This opens the template selection. Select the desired template here.

Company conta.		? ⊒
Sclose Close Search	Cancel Select report	∞∞ 🗐 🖂 +
	Q §earch ▲ Address dossier with opportunities and receipts	Miller
	Address short info	Danell
	Image: Addresses with picture Image: Birthday list	Mc Donald Bing

The report will be created from the template with the previously selected data records.

The Web Client supports the same actions here as the Desktop Client (see page 69).

As for report views in the app, you can switch view modes (analysis table or Crystal Reports) via the action menu with the three dots for templates supporting this.

5.4 Creating and editing report templates

Creating and editing report templates is possible in the Desktop Client only.

In order to create or edit a report template, first open the selection of report templates for the desired data record type as described in the previous section.

The following features for creating and editing report templates are available.

- Create new: Here you open the Edit template window to create a new template.
- Edit: Here you open the Edit template window to edit the selected template.
- Duplicate: Here you create a copy of the selected report template.
- × **Delete:** Here you delete the selected report template. Before deletion you are asked to confirm.
- Import: Here you import a report template from an XML file in order to transfer a report template from another database from which it was exported.
- **Export:** Here you export the selected report template to an XML file.

5.5 Defining favorites

Report template favorites are supported in the Desktop Client only.

You may define report templates as your personal favorites. This way they will be available directly in the toolbar of lists and data records in a menu. You open it by clicking on the little arrow to the right of the **Report...** button.

✓ Open the context menu by right-clicking on the desired report template.

* Select Add to favorites.

The report template is now displayed in the **Favorites** list. You may remove it from the favorites via the context menu.
5.6 Editing a template

Creating and editing report templates is possible in the Desktop Client only.

You edit new and existing report templates in the **Edit template** window.

🎯 Edit repo	rt template	-	
lame	Company with contact persons and dossier		
articipants	All (public)		
otes		∥ <u>E</u> dit	샵 <u>T</u> ime stam
Data record	s Additional fields Primary links Last field change Crystal Reports		
General	Calculations		
Data reco	ord type Precalculated values		
Address	es 🗸		1
Fields			
Compar (busines date, La	y, Company 2, E-mail		1
Options View form	Standard (nublic)		
view ion	Standard (public)		· ·
Include lin	ks		
🗋 New	V 🖉 Edit 🗙 Delete		
Query	Include Link types		
C Dos	ier phone calls Additional links All		
Dos:	ier e-mails Additional links All including system connections		
	sier documents Additional links All including system connections		
	tact persons Additional links All including system connections		
	······································		
Use Rep	ort visualization rt visualization first		
✓ Use Crvs	tal Reports Design		
Design	Company with contact persons an Edit design Select different design		
	Save re	port template	Cancel

In the upper section you specify the Name and Notes for the template.

You may control access rights via Participants and External access.

Report templates support all functions that are available in report views.

Therefore, you make the same settings in report templates as in the properties of a report view (see chapter "2 Creating and configuring report views" on page 9).

Since you select the data records for which a report is created via the data record window or list, the **Data record type**, **Filter** and **Participants** settings are not required.

Report templates with a Crystal Reports Design can be used without a license for the Report module. In this case, however, the **Report visualization** isn't supported.

5.7 Report records and automatic report dispatch

You can automatically dispatch reports from templates with Crystal Reports Designs.

Notes

To send reports, you need to set up the notification and action service, including the associated e-mail account, and the service needs to be running (see "8.1 Settings in the Rules area" on page 95).

Whenever a report is dispatched, it is generated anew from the selected report template. Changes made to report templates will therefore potentially affect previously created report records configured for automatic dispatch.

Dispatched reports have the file type selected in the report template's **Crystal Reports** tab. Reports created from templates without a selected file type will be sent as pdf files.

5.7.1 Creating a report record

To set up the report dispatch, first create a data record of the **Report** type:

(8					
	<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew	<u>I</u> nsei	rt	<u>S</u> earch
	۹N	lew -	🗠 Wri	te e-n	nail	⊗ Ro
	¢	View				
	\square	E-mail				\odot
	=	Addre	SS	•		
	۲	Appoi	ntment			P - N
Ľ	é	Camp	aign		pup	lic)
	∎‡	Distrib	oution lis	t	activ	vities
	Ē	Docur	nent		aden	nent
	0	Event			ľ	
	Ĉ	Expen	ses			
	P	Extern	al service	2		
	X	Holida	y		iem	ent
	ß	ltem				circ
	0	Job				
	2i	Lead				
	1	Орро	rtunity			
	C	Phone	call			
	ē	Produ	ct group			
	⊞	Produ	ct			
	E	Projec	t			
	ō	Regist	ration			
	Ē	Repor	t			
	ð	Resou	rce plan			

A wizard with the following steps will open:

- Select the data record type to create the report for (e.g., **Time records**).
- Select a report template (e.g., List for time records).
- Select filter conditions (e.g., Start is identical with "Last month").
- For user sensitive data records only: Select team settings for report recipients (e.g., Only personal data records). For user sensitive data records, team settings and associated access rights of selected recipients, in addition to selected filter conditions, control which data records (e.g., time records) will be included in the report. In the time record list example, each recipient would regularly receive a list of their own time records in the previous month.

Once you're finished selecting the report template and data records, click on **Finish**.

5.7.2 Participants

You will be asked whether you wish to adopt the participants of the template. The participants of the report record can access it to configure the report dispatch.

Please note that the participants of a report record are not necessarily identical with the recipients of the dispatched report, which you select in the **Schedule** tab (see the following page).

5.7.3 General tab

In the **General** tab, you enter a **Subject**. This is useful in order to quickly identify different report records in a search result list or list view.

Click on **Generate** to create and display a preview of the report. Your access rights will be considered regarding the team settings selected for the report.

Please note that reports for user sensitive data record types will potentially be different for each recipient, depending on access rights and team settings.

5.7.4 Filter and Team tabs

In the **Filter** and **Team** tabs, you can adjust the associated settings you originally made in the report wizard at any time (see top of page).

5.7.5 Schedule tab

In the Schedule tab, you make all settings for the automatic dispatch:

E New Report	-		
段 Save&Close		•	2
General Filter Team Schedule Change log			
① Created by Robert Glaser; Last changed on 13.09.2022 13:08:18 by CAS			
Send report automatically			
Recipient: Antonio Matarazzo, Brenda Gladis, Robert Glade	🗙 🥵 Sele	ect	
E-mail addresses			
Send also the notes of the report			
Recurrence pattern Monthly pattern			_
O Daily At 08:00 🔇			
○ Weekly Calendar day 1 ~			
Monthly			

• Select **Send report automatically** to activate the automatic dispatch.

Then click on **Select** to select users and groups.

Enter **E-Mail addresses**, separated by commas (,) or semicolons (;) to add external recipients. Please note that restrictions to the selection of data records that apply due to team settings will apply for external recipients as well. They will receive the data records of the first selected user.

For selected users and groups, the e-mail address entered in the Management Console will be used. Groups won't be resolved.

 Under Recurrence pattern, you select the period, time of day and for weekly or monthly dispatch the days of the week or day of the month to send the report.

5.7.6 Change log tab

As for other data record types, the **Change log** tab displays any changes made to fields and links of the report record.

5.7.7 Dossier tab

As for other data record types, the **Dossier** tab displays any links of the report record.

6 Planning views in the Web Client

With the Report module, the following planning views are available in the Web Client.

- 6.1 Board view (page 77): Group data records by field values
- 6.2 Timeline view (page 82): Chronological order of data records

6.1 Board view

The following sections briefly outline the availability, visualization and features of the **Board view**, which is available in CAS genesisWorld Web with Report.

- 6.1.1 Licensing (page 77)
- 6.1.2 General (page 77)
- 6.1.3 View menu (page 79)
- 6.1.4 Properties (page 79)
- 6.1.5 Filter (page 80)
- 6.1.6 Interactions (page 81)

6.1.1 Licensing

When Report, Project or Helpdesk is licensed, the **Board view** is available in the Web Client (for Project and Helpdesk, activation in the Mangement Console isn't required).

6.1.2 General

The **Board view** displays the grouping of data records by input help items of a field.

Opportunities may also be grouped by the month of their end date.



With either of the associated licenses, you may open the view out of saved list views for any type of data records that have at least one field with input help items.

The view is available for both standard and custom data record types.

To open a **Board view** for the data records displayed in a saved list view, open the **View menu** and select the **Board view** option.

$\widehat{\square} \leftarrow \boxed{\mathbb{O}} \text{My opportunities} +$	-		?	$\left[\rightarrow \right]$
C Search	My opportun	ities	000	+
Board view		Customer	Total weighted	
Display available views	m sales and installation	Maria Morales, CasaTujo SA	1,350.00	>
O Edit view	> oftware	Ethan Miller, ACC Technics Ltd.	2,700.00	>
Map view	oftware & standard training	Quentin Melrose, CCC	405.00	>
Report view	oftware	Marcus Boyle, William Maine Ltd.	1,100.00	>
Save view as app	software development	Pear & Hemple UK	9,647.00	>
Salact columns	workstation	Peter Foster, Alpha Systems Inc.	1,025.00	>
	I workstation & standard training	Wilma Bruser, Kahrmann electronic Ltd.	10,725.00	>
Timeline view	t software	Harry Nicholson, Young & partner	12,500.00	>

Notes

This feature is only available for saved list views listed under **Views** in the associated app. It isn't available for combined list views, list views with a link filter or list views that are currently filtered via the **Search...** field.

The opened view always includes all data records from the list view. Selecting data records via the checkboxes in the first column has no effect.

When grouping by input help items, only field values that are actually available as input help items will be displayed. Data records with field values which are not or no longer available as input help items will be displayed as **Not assigned**.

All settings, except for filter conditions, are automatically saved per list view and user and will be restored when next opening the view.

For your own views, click on **Save changes** to save changed filter conditions. For public views, you can only save changes made to filter settings in the associated Desktop Client navigator. Unsaved changes made to filter conditions will be temporarily retained when switching between the list, board, report and timeline views. Reopening the associated list view out of the app start resets the filter.

6.1.3 View menu

Wia the **View menu**, you can switch to one of the following views:

- Map view
- Report view
- Timeline view

6.1.4 Properties

In the **Board view**, you can edit the following **Properties**.

- Use the following field for grouping: Select here a field with input help items, which will be displayed as columns for grouping the data records. Additionally, the Not assigned column will be displayed for data records without a field value and for field values that are not or no longer available as input help items.
 - Use the following type for grouping by Status: If you select the Status field for grouping and the status depends on the type, status assignments will only be displayed for a specific type, which you select here in this case.

Items with other values in the **Type** field will not be displayed in this case.

 Group opportunities by End (Month): You can group opportunities by the month of their end date.

If you do, select the number of indvidual month columns to display under **Number of columns months**, beginning with the current month.

Additionally, the following columns are available:

- Not assigned (opportunities without an end date)
- Until (opportunities with an end date before the current month)
- From (opportunities with an end date after the last individual month column)

In this view, you can change the months of opportunity end dates via drag-anddrop to a month column or to the **Until** or **From** column:

- The Until column assigns the previous month.
- The **From** column assigns the first associated month.

When you do this, the day of the month will usually stay the same, but will be set to the last day of the new month if required (e.g., when you move an opportunity from 08/31 to September, the new end date will be 09/30).

 Display the following column values of the grouping: Display or hide columns for specific field values as well as the Not assigned column. Use the following field for the sorting: Select here a field for sorting records within a column. In addition to fields of the displayed data record type, you may sort by the first or second row as defined for that data record type in the App Designer with the 1. row and 2. row items.

Click on the button next to the sorting field to reverse the sorting order.

- Use the following field for the sum row: Select the number of cards or a field to display as sum in the header row here.
- Offer currency fields in the base currency: When you select a currency field for the sum row (e.g., Total for opportunities), this option will be available to convert data records with foreign currencies to your base currency with column totals.

This requires entering conversion rates from the base currency to all other used currencies under **Currencies** in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console (see "8.2 Settings in the Miscellaneous area – Currencies" on page 96).

Note

This feature isn't supported for fields of the money data type.

Such fields will always be displayed in the base currency.

- Also display the following field on the card: The first row on each card can't be configured and is defined by the associated App Designer setting for the displayed data record type. For the second row, you may select between the App Designer configuration (default setting 2. row) and fields of the data record type.
- Use the following field for the color classification: Select a color classification field and colors for field values here. The selection includes all fields with input help items as well as combinations of Type and Status, if available.
- Use the following field for the user picture: Select here a user field to display the picture of the associated employee address on each card. For addresses, you may also select Picture from address.

6.1.5 Filter

Here you edit the filter for the list, board, report and timeline views. Unsaved changes will be temporarily retained when switching between these views. However, when you reopen the list view out of the app start, the filter will be reset.

You can save changes you made to filter settings for your own views by clicking on **Save changes**. Changes made to filter settings of public views can only be saved in the associated navigator in the Desktop Client.

6.1.6 Interactions

The **Board view** supports the following interactions.

- **Open data record for editing** by left-clicking on the pen on a card.
- **Open radial menu** by right-clicking on a card.
- Change field value (group) by dragging a card to another column and dropping it.
- **Create data records** by clicking on the plus button.

6.2 Timeline view

The following sections briefly outline the availability, visualization and features of the **Timeline view**, which is available in CAS genesisWorld Web with Report.

- 6.2.1 Licensing (page 82)
- 6.2.2 General (page 82)
- 6.2.3 View menu (page 83)
- 6.2.4 Properties (page 84)
- 6.2.5 Time unit and start date (page 84)
- 6.2.6 Filter (page 84)
- 6.2.7 Interactions (page 85)

6.2.1 Licensing

When Report, Project or Helpdesk is licensed, the **Timeline view** is available in the Web Client (for Project and Helpdesk, activation in the Mangement Console isn't required).

6.2.2 General

The **Timeline view** displays the chronological order of data records with a start and finish.

ŵ	🔶 📃 All pi	ojects	+								? ₽
=	til 🛄 🗂	Today	∏∕ Sa	ive changes	A	All projects					+
Type	\ \	< <		L	uly 2022		Au	ug 2022		Sep 2022	*
\sim	Consulting project		Consulting	g Argus			Consulting	FutureCorp			
			Consulting	g Rooftop Inc.	Consu	lting Semper Fidelis Inc.					
					Mon 7/18 -	- Mon 7/25		Consulting Yellow	/House Inc	E.	
						\Leftrightarrow			Consu	ulting Carring Electronics	
\sim	Product sales		IT infrastru	ucture for ComGraphics Ltd.		Custom software delevo	pment for Devemit Ltd.	L			
			Terminal w	vorkstation for NOMOSYS	Software delevopm	ent for Devemit Ltd.					
			User traini	ing for Mafark Inc.		Mobile Workstation for I	Fernoplan				
			U	lser training for DHC Compute	er Co.	Ma	obile Workstation for Co	omGraphics Ltd.		User training iNetVision,	phase 2
								Mobile workstatic	on for Kran	mer & Partner	
<	June 2022	Ju	y 2022	August 2022	September 2022	October 2022	November	r 2022 Dec	ember 202	22 January 202	23 >

With either of the associated licenses, you may open the view out of saved list views for any type of data records with a start and finish.

Other than the standard data record types with a start and finish in CAS genesisWorld, the view will display any data record type with date fields named **START_DT** and **END_DT**.

To open a **Timeline view** for the data records displayed in a saved list view, open the **View menu** and select the **Timeline view** option.

∩ ← 🗄 All projects +	-		?	\Box
Q Search	_ 🗸 All projects		000	· +
Board view	bject	Туре	Status	
Display available views	onsulting Berger Inc.	Consulting project	Acquisition	> Î
Edit view	> er training iNetVision, phase 2	Product sales	Acquisition	>
Map view	onsulting Carring Electronics	Consulting project	Acquisition	>
Report view	ftware development for Mafark Inc.	Product sales	Acquisition	>
Save view as app	er training for Smith & Sons	Product sales	Acquisition	>
	nsulting YellowHouse Inc.	Consulting project	Acquisition	>
	obile workstation for Kramer & Partner	Product sales	Acquisition	>
Timeline view	rver center for Western Automatics Inc.	Product sales	Acquisition	>

Notes

This feature is only available for saved list views listed under **Views** in the associated app. It isn't available for combined list views, list views with a link filter or list views that are currently filtered via the **Search...** field.

The opened view always includes all data records from the list view. Selecting data records via the checkboxes in the first column has no effect.

All settings, except for filter conditions, are automatically saved per list view and user and will be restored when next opening the view.

For your own views, click on **Save changes** to save changed filter conditions. For public views, you can only save changes made to filter settings in the associated Desktop Client navigator. Unsaved changes made to filter conditions will be temporarily retained when switching between the list, board, report and timeline views. Reopening the associated list view out of the app start resets the filter.

6.2.3 View menu

 \equiv Via the **View menu**, you can switch to one of the following views:

- Board view
- Map view
- Report view

6.2.4 Properties

In the **Timeline view**, you can edit the following **Properties**.

- Visibility of weekends and Working hours to be displayed: Here you determine whether weekends will be displayed and how many hours per day will be displayed in the days view.
 - Data records that are completely within hidden periods won't be displayed.
 - Data records with only the start or end in a hidden period will be displayed, but changing the hidden start or end and moving such records via drag-and-drop won't be possible.
- Number of columns in day, week and month view.
- Use field for the grouping
 - All fields with input help items except Status for data records with the Type and Status fields. The Status of opportunities is available for selection as it doesn't depend on a Type field.
 - User fields: Person responsible (projects and opportunities), Deputy (projects), Processed by (tasks), Employee, Team, Responsible employee, Responsible team (tickets).
- Use field for the color classification and select colors for field values: any field with input help items as well as combinations of Type and Status, if available.

6.2.5 Time unit and start date

Here you select the view's time unit, **Days**, **Weeks** or **Months**.

Here you select the view's start date, week or month in the calendar. Alternatively, click on **Today** to switch to the current date, week or month or click on a date, week or month in the timeline to switch to that period (depending on your display period).

6.2.6 Filter

Here you edit the filter for the list, board, report and timeline views. Unsaved changes will be temporarily retained when switching between these views. However, when you reopen the list view out of the app start, the filter will be reset.

You can save changes you made to filter settings for your own views by clicking on **Save changes**. Changes made to filter settings of public views can only be saved in the associated navigator in the Desktop Client.

6.2.7 Interactions

The **Timeline view** supports the following interactions.

- **Expand or collapse group** with the arrow button on a group.
- **Expand or collapse all** with the down and up arrow buttons above the list.
- **Expand or collapse header column** with the left or right arrow button above the list.
- Open data record for editing or viewing by left-clicking on a bar.
- **Change start and/or finish** via drag-and-drop. Drag the left or right edge of a bar to change the start or end. Drag a bar to move the data record.

Please note the drag-and-drop limitations described for **Visibility of weekends** and **Working hours to be displayed** in the previous section.

• **Create data records** with the plus button or by selecting a period with the mouse while holding the left mouse button. Not supported for all data record types.

7 Using customer dashboards

Customer dashboard reports are only available in the Desktop Client.

Use customer dashboard reports to process and clarify information from data records.

Edit contact pe	rson Jack Bauer						-	- 🗆	\times
§ Save&Close Ø Address servi	日 × 日 昭 ⊗ の ices → 圓 Create receipt → 長	} Ⅲ Ō ~ [් ශ් Hourly rates	s (C + E] → 📄 (Create document +	🕮 Map		
General Detail	ls Area map Campaigns (1	Group structure	Tree Questio	nnaires Cł	ange log	Dossier Custom	er dashboard		
r Jack Bauer,123	Jeremy Street, SW1 4UH London (NO	MOSYS Inc.)							
CAS g	enesisWorld	1					Custome	r dashboa Refre	rd esh
Customer dash	IDOARD								
Company:	NOMOSYS Inc.		Phor	ne tchhoard):	+44 20 778	856-0			
Type:	Customer		Phor	ne (mobile):	+44 7957 3	47119			
Status:	123 Jaramy Streat		E-ma	ail (business):	jack.bauer(Dnomosys.com			
Juccu	120 Jerenny Street		Phor	ne (husiness):	+44 20 778	856-23			
Postal code:	SW1 4UH			ne (sessiness).					
Postal code: Town:	SW1 4UH London		Hom	nepage:	www.nomo	<u>sys.com</u>			
Postal code: Town: Contact data	SW1 4UH London	Complaint	Hom	nepage:	www.nomo	sys.com Outstanding invoi	ces		_
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact:	SW1 4UH London	Complaint	Hom ts	nepage:	<u>www.nomo</u>	Sys.com Outstanding invoi Number of outstandir	ces		2
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date:	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16	rsonal Pending: /2012 Total:	Hom	iepage:	<u>www.nomo</u> 1 7	<u>Sys.com</u> Outstanding invoi Number of outstandir Total of outstanding in	ces I <u>g invoices:</u> nvoices:	90,398.	2
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date: Last contacted on	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16 : 1/16	rsonal Pending: /2012 Total: /2023 Average pro	Hom ts cessing time:	6 hrs, 13 mir	<u>www.nomo</u> 1 7 s, 35 secs	Outstanding invoi Number of outstanding Total of outstanding in	ces Ig invoices: Invoices:	90,398.	2 75
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date: Last contacted on Contact person:	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16 : 1/16 Peter Gray	Complaint rsonal Pending: /2012 Total: /2023 Average pro- round Hermitian	Hom ts cessing time:	6 hrs, 13 mir	<u>www.nome</u> 1 7 s, 35 secs	Outstanding invoi Number of outstandir Total of outstanding i Used products	ces Ig invoices: Invoices:	90,398.	2 75
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date: Last contacted on Contact person: Last contacted via	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16 : 1/16 Peter Gray a: Appoin	rsonal <u>Pending:</u> /2012 <u>Total:</u> /2023 Average pro roound tment Orders	Hom ts cessing time:	epage: 6 hrs, 13 mir	<u>www.nomo</u> 1 7 s, 35 secs	Outstanding invoi Number of outstandir Total of outstanding in Used products Product uses:	ces ig <u>invoices:</u> nvoices:	90,398.	2 75 4
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date: Last contacted on Contact person: Last contacted via	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16 : 1/16 Peter Gray a: Appoin	rsonal <u>Pending:</u> /2012 <u>Total:</u> /2023 Average pro ooud tment <u>Orders</u> <u>Outstanding</u>	ts cessing time: orders;	6 hrs, 13 mir	<u>www.nome</u> 1 5, 35 secs 2	Outstanding invoi Number of outstandin Total of outstanding in Used products Product uses:	ces ig <u>invoices:</u> nvoices:	90,398.	2 75 4
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date: Last contacted on Contact person: Last contacted via Turnover	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16 : 1/16 Peter Gray a: Appoin	Complaint rsonal Pending: /2012 Total: /2023 Average pro roound Cutstanding Turnover fro Turnover fro	ts cessing time: orders: m outstanding orders:	6 hrs, 13 mir	<u>www.nome</u> 1 7 s, 35 secs 2 40,198.00	Outstanding invoi Number of outstandir Total of outstanding in Used products Product uses: Contracts	ces 1 <u>g invoices:</u> nvoices:	90,398.	2 75 4
Postal code: Town: Contact data First contact: First contact date: Last contacted on Contact person: Last contacted via Turnover Turnover:	SW1 4UH London pe : 1/16 Peter Gray a: Appoin 223,(Complaint rsonal Pending: /2012 Total: /2023 Average pro roound Cutstanding Turnover fro 58.20 Current opp	ts cessing time: orders: m outstanding orders: ortunities:	6 hrs, 13 mir	vvvv.nomo 1 7 s, 35 secs 2 40,198.00 1	Outstanding invoi Number of outstandin Total of outstanding in Used products Product uses: Contracts Service agreements:	ces 1g invoices: nvoices:	90,398.	2 75 4

- Fields of the data record
- Measures from linked data records: You select linked data records by data record type, filter condition and link types. Number and time fields are available as measures. As calculation functions, the sum (except for dates and times), maximum, minimum and average are available.
- Lists of linked data records: You specify linked data records via the data record type, filter condition and link types.
- Links to external applications: You can open external applications directly from the customer dashboard. Fields of the associated data record (e.g., the address), can be passed to the application as parameters.
- Columns and groups: You structure report items in groups with different headings. Lists of linked data records are displayed as groups of their own. The groups can be put together in columns.

7.1 Creating and editing definitions

You configure customer dashboard reports in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console, under **Dashboards** > **Customer dashboard**.

In the **Definition** tab, you create customer dashboard definitions.

In the Assignment tab, you assign your definitions to the desired data record windows.

😪 CAS genesisWorld Management Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE				-	×	
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp						
Areas						
 Miscellaneous Activities Addresses Business year Connections 	Dashboards Data record dashboa Definition Assignm	ard Customer dashboa nent Edit × Remove {	ard Import 🕞	Export		
↑ Dashboards	Data record type	Title	Columns	Style sheet		
🔆 Display tabs	Address	Customer dashboard	3	Standard.xsl		
Documents	Project	Project dashboard	2	Standard.xsl		
Dossier	Job	Job dashboard	2	Standard.xsl		
 E-mail forum! Inxmail Last contact Uinks Number assignment Participant/Resources Products Support requests Templates 						

New: Here you create a new definition.

- Edit: Here you edit the selected definition. Alternatively, you edit a definition by double-clicking on the associated list entry.
- × **Remove:** Here you delete the selected definition.
- Import: Here you import customer dashboard definitions from an XML file. Specify the desired file name and click Load file. Select the definitions you wish to import in the list and click OK. Existing definitions are not overwritten during the import.
- **Export**: Here you export customer dashboard definitions to an XML file. Specify the desired file name. Select the definitions you wish to export in the list and click **OK**. The definitions are written into the target file. If you specify an existing file, it will be overwritten during the export.

7.1.1 Defining a customer dashboard

You edit customer dashboard definitions in the Define customer dashboard window.

日 Define custom	er dashboard				-		×
Data record type	Addresses				\sim		
Fields	is Company, Type, name, Name, Stree	Company, Company t, Postal code, Tow	72, Form of addre n, Country	ss, Title, First		1	
Title						Columns 0	
Style sheet	%genesisClient%\[TDCockpit\XSLTemp	lates\Standard.xs				
Include links							
🗋 New 🗙 Dele	te 🕇 Up 👃 Dov	vn					
Туре	Title		Link types	Filter?			
				С	К	Canc	el

• **Data record type:** Select the data record type of the report's core data record here. The fields and links of the core data record form the report data.

Customer dashboard reports can be displayed in the core data record's window as well as in any unambiguosly linked data record like phone calls for an address (see "7.2 Assigning definitions to data record windows" on page 93).

Fields: Select the fields for the list in the upper report section here.

For new customer dashboard definitions, the fields of the **Standard (public)** view format for the selected data record type are initially selected.

Please note: For addresses, the **Form of address**, **First name** and **Name** fields will only be displayed if you select all three and will be combined into the **Contact person** field.

- ¹ Here you overwrite the selected fields with the fields of the **Standard (public)** view format for the selected data record type.
- Title: Enter the default title for the generated reports here. In the assignment of a report to other data records, the title stated here can be replaced by another title. The report's title is displayed as the label of the associated tab in the data record window.
- **Columns:** Here you see the number of columns used to display the report items.
- **Stylesheet:** If desired, specify an alternative XSL stylesheet to format the report here.
- Include links: Here you create and edit an arbitrary number of report items and assemble them in groups and columns.

7.1.2 Editing report items

You assemble report items in columns and groups or delete items in the following way.

- ¹ Add column: Click New. Select New column and click on OK.
- Add group: Click New. Select New group and click OK.

Enter a description for the new group and click **OK** to confirm.

- **1** Assign report item to a column or group: Using the arrow buttons you specify the group and column of each report item.
- × Delete report item: Click here to delete the selected report item.

7.1.3 Inserting a measure or link list

You insert a new measure or link list in the following way.

- ✓ Click on the New button in the toolbar for report items.
- ✓ Select New measure or link list and click on OK.
- Enter all information for the measure or list in the Edit measure or link list window as described in the following section.

🍘 Edit measure or lin	nk list		_	
Linked data records				
Data record type	Addresses		~	Review
Filter	All Addresses			7
Participants	Search all data records which	can be accessed		ŝ
Link types	All including system connectio	ns		
Title	New role			
Measure	Detail list available	Use SQL key		
Field	<count> ~</count>	Function		\sim
Grouping	~			
Unit				
O Link list				
View format	Standard (public)			~
Companies and contac Normal Do not include links Overall dossier	t persons of contact persons			
			ОК	Cancel

- Linked data records: Here you make all settings for the linked data records and the link types to be regarded.
 - Data record type: Select the data record type of the linked data records here.
 - Review: Here you open a list of the core data records currently selected with the settings **Data record type**, **Filter** and **Participants**.
 - Filter: Here you select filter conditions to further limit the selected data records, (e.g., Sector is equal to banking).
 - Participants: Here you select the users whose data records are included in the analysis when analyzing user sensitive data record types.
 - Link types: Here you select the desired link types. In the default setting, all link types that can be analyzed are selected.

In the All link types mode, primary links are not regarded.

Select the **Only primary links** option to include any data records in the analysis that are directly or indirectly linked to a core data record via a primary link.

For example, in an analysis of time records linked to addresses in **Only primary links** mode, time records created for an appointment which has a primary link to a selected address are also regarded.

- Title: Enter a description for the measure or detail view here.
- Measure: With this option a measure is calculated from the linked data records and displayed as a single item. If you select **Detail view** instead, the linked data records are displayed in a list as an own group.
 - Detail list available: Here you add a link to the data record window or list. If only
 one data record is included in the analysis, the link opens it in the data record
 window. Multiple linked data records are displayed in a list instead. You select the
 view format in the View format menu under Detail view.
 - Use SQL measure: Select this option to specify an SQL query file instead of defining a measure using the Field and Function menus.

The GGUID, VALUE and TABLENAME fields must be present: SELECT TOP 1 NULL AS GGUID, NAME AS VALUE, NULL AS TABLENAME FROM ADDRESSO WHERE NAME IS NOT NULL

To link to the original record the customer dashboard belongs to, use the #ROOTGUID# variable: SELECT #ROOTGUID# AS GGUID, NAME AS VALUE, NULL AS TABLENAME FROM ADDRESS0 WHERE ADDRESS0.GWCOMPANYGUID = #ROOTGUID#

To refer to a different database (provided it uses the same database server as the CAS genesisWorld database), use the following syntax: SELECT TOP 1 NULL AS GGUID, <field> AS VALUE, NULL AS TABLENAME FROM <database name>.. WHERE <condition>

- Field: In the default setting, the <Count> option is selected here, causing the number of linked data records to be displayed. All fields in which a number, time of day, date, duration or working time is stored, are also available here. In the Function menu you select the calculation function Sum, Maximum, Minimum or Average.
- Grouping: Select this option if the calculated measures should be grouped by another field of the linked data records. In this case, select the desired group field from this menu.
- Unit: Here you specify the quantity unit to display, if desired.

Predefined field formats are applied automatically.

• Link list: Select this option if a list of the linked data records should be displayed instead of a measure.

Wiew format: Select the desired view format for the list here.

- Companies and contact persons: If you have selected addresses as core data records or as linked data records, you determine here whether a company and associated contact persons should be treated as one address in the link analysis.
 - Normal: The default setting considers only links of explicitly selected addresses.
 - Do not include contact partner links: This setting includes links to selected companies and to companies of selected contact persons. Links to contact persons are not considered.
 - **Company dossier:** This setting includes links to contact persons and companies which were not explicitly selected if they can be associated with a selected address.

7.1.4 Adding a field

You insert a new field in the following way.

- ✓ Click on the **New** button in the toolbar for report items.
- ✓ Select New field and click on OK.
- ✓ Select the desired field in the associated menu.
- If the field should be marked with a quantity unit in the report, activate the Unit option and enter the desired description in the associated field.

Predefined field formats are applied automatically.

✓ Insert the field by clicking **OK**.

7.1.5 Adding a program link

Add a new program link in the following way.

- ✓ Click on the **New** button in the toolbar for report items.
- ✓ Select the **Executable program** option and click on **OK**.
- ✓ The **Edit program properties** window opens. Enter the following settings here.
 - **Program title:** Enter the description to be displayed here.
 - **Executable:** Specify the path to the executable file here. Put quotation marks around the path if it contains spaces.
 - Parameter: Enter the desired paramaters here. If desired, include fields of the associated data record. By clicking **Test parameters**, you test whether the fields entered are actually available in the associated data records.
- ✓ Insert the program link by clicking **OK**.

7.2 Assigning definitions to data record windows

In the **Assignment** tab, under **Customer dashboard**, you assign customer dashboard definitions to data record types.

A distinction is also made between entries in the **Type** field of the data records. You can define available items via an input help in the **Database** area of the Management Console.

😪 CAS genesisWorld Management	🙀 CAS genesisWorld Management Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE Training and Presentation license 🛛 🛛 🗙						
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp							
 Areas 							
 Miscellaneous Activities Addresses Business year Connections Currencies 	Dashboards Data record dashboard Definition Assignmen Definition Assignmen New & Edit.	Customer dashboard tt × Remove					
↑ Dashboards	Data record window	Types	Data record type	Definition	Item	Title	
🔆 Display tabs	Address	<al></al>	Address	Customer dashboard	After Dossier		
Documents	Project	<all></all>	Project	Project dashboard	After Dossier		
Dossier	Job	<al></al>	Project	Project dashboard	After Dossier		
E-mail	Job	<all></all>	Job	Job dashboard	After Dossier		
 ✔ forum! ➢ Inxmail ※ Last contact 𝒞 Links 1/2 Number assignment Participant/Resources Products Products Support requests Templates 			- -			- -	

- **New:** Here you define a new assignment. It assigns a customer dashboard definition to a certain data record type and a certain selection of types that are applicable for a data record type.
- Edit: Here you open the selected assignment. Alternatively you open an assignment by double-click.
- × **Remove:** Here you delete the selected assignment.

You edit the assignment of a definition to data record windows in the **Assign customer dashboard** window.

Assign custom	<table-of-contents> Assign customer dashboard</table-of-contents>			×
Data record window	Job			~
Types	 <no></no> Acquisition Administration Conception Documentation Milestone Programming Programming Project management Service Ticket Training 			
Data record	Primary project			~
Definition	Project dashboard			~
Position	After Dossier			\sim
Title	Project dashboard			
		OK	Cano	cel

- Data record window: Here you select the data record window the report should be displayed in.
- **Types:** Select here the types for which the report should be displayed. Select the **All** option to select all types at once. Deselect the **All** option to deselect all types at once.
- Data record: Select the core data record of the report here.

By default, the **Personal** option is selected, which creates the report for the data record on which it is displayed (selected **Data record window**).

If link types of the cardinality 1:1 or n:1 are available for the selected data record type, the linkable data records are available for selection in the **Data record** menu.

- Definition: Here you select the customer dashboard definition. Which definitions are available depends on your selection in the Data record menu.
- Position: Here you specify the position of the customer dashboard tab in the data record window.
 - Before General (far left)
 - After General
 - Before Dossier
 - After Dossier (far right) default setting.
- Title: The title of the customer dossier definition is automatically uses as the label of the tab which displays the report in the data record window. Activate the Title option to specify a different title.

8 Management Console settings

The following sections describe the Management Console settings for the Report module.

- 8.1 Settings in the Rules area (page 95)
- 8.2 Settings in the Miscellaneous area Currencies (page 96)

8.1 Settings in the Rules area

To send reports, you need to set up the notification and action service, including the associated e-mail account, and the service needs to be running

Enter these settings under **Server settings** in the **Rules** area of the Management Console.

<table-of-contents> CAS genesisWorld Management Co</table-of-contents>	onsole (localhost) - EXAMPLE -		×			
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp						
◄ Areas						
Rules Rules for notifications and actions Statistics	Server settings Settings for the notification and action service					
Server settings	Start notification and action service Stop notification and action service					
	Name of the application server					
	Enter computer name of the application server					
	Sending time interval 5 mins Set sending restriction					
	Settings for e-mail rules and out-of-office wizard					
	Name of the application server					
	Enter computer name of the application server					
	Settings for CAS genesicWorld Web					
	URL for CAS genesisWorld Web					
	E-mail account settings Notifications will be sent via the following e-mail account					
	E-mail account:					
	New e-mail account Change e-mail account Change e-mail account Send	test e-mail				
	Language settings Notifications can be sent in the following languages					
	Czech ^ German // Czech // Cze					
	Default language for notifications					

For more information about setting up the service and e-mail account, see the online help for the Management Console. Open it via the **Help** menu or the [F1] key.

8.2 Settings in the Miscellaneous area – Currencies

You may enter currencies in the Miscellaneous area, under Currencies.

All list items will be available for selection in all currency fields in CAS genesisWorld.

You also determine the system's **Base currency** here.

This is the presetting for currency fields in CAS genesisWorld.

To convert foreign currencies to the base currency in reports, in formula fields and in board views in CAS genesisWorld Web, enter conversion rates here.

Enter the conversion rate from the base currency to any foreign currency to convert as **Exchange ratio Euro to Currency**, regardless of which currency you are using as base currency. For example, if you are using GBP as base currency and wish to convert CHF, edit CHF and enter the conversion rate for GBP to CHF (e.g., if 1 GBP = 1.2 CHF, enter 1.2).

🕵 CAS genesisWorld Management Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE – 🛛 🗙							
<u>File</u> <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp							
 Areas 							
 Miscellaneous Activities Addresses Business year Connections Currencies 	Currencies The list displays all currencies available in CAS genesisWorld. □ ± × New Change Delete Currency Decimal places Entered the European M Euro exchange rate Base currency ^						
n Dashboards	CAD		1.6900				
Display tabs Decuments	CHF	2	1.1300				
Dossier	CLP	2	0.0000				
E-mail	CNY	2	0.0000				
forum!	COP	2	0.0000				
🤛 Inxmail	CRC	2	0.0000				
🔆 Last contact	CSD	2	0.0000				
Ø Links	CUP	2	0.0000				
¹ 2 ³ Number assignment	CVE	2	0.0000				
 Participant/Resources Products Support requests Templates 	CZK	2	0.0000				
	DEM	2 3/26/1999	1.9558				
	DJF	2	0.0000				
	DKK	2	0.0000				
	DOP	2	0.0000				
	DZD	2	0.0000				
	EEK	2	0.0000				
	EGP	2	0.0000				
	ESP	0 3/26/1999	166.3860				
	ETB	2	0.0000				
	EUR	2 3/26/1999	1.1300				
	FIM	2 3/26/1999	5.9457				
	FJD	2	0.0000				
	FKP	2	0.0000				
	FRF	2 3/26/1999	6.5596				
	GBP	2	1.0000 🗸	~			

For the base currency itself, enter 1 as **Exchange ratio Euro to Currency**.

Please note that you can no longer change the **Base currency** after selecting the **Maintain different prices for products** option under **Miscellaneous** > **Products**.

9 Data types in the formula editor

The following chapter give an overview on the data types supported in the formula editor.

9.1 Supported data types

The following data types are supported in the formula editor.

Data type in formula editor	Data types in CAS genesisWorld	
Float (floating point number)	decimal, float, money	
Integer	bigint, int, smallint, tinyint	
Boolean value	bit	
String	char/nchar, varchar/nvarchar	
Date/Time	datetime	

The binary and varbinary data types are not supported.

Some standard binary ID fields type such as "Record ID" are available for use in formulas. These fields are automatically converted to strings in hexadecimal notation when used.

9.2 Float (floating point number)

Floating point numberes support a larger value range than integers, but are only precise for up to 15 digits total, including digits before and after the floating point (e.g., 7 digits before and 8 digits after the point).

The number of decimal places in a database field or a calculated field depends on the respective settings.

When entering floating point numbers, the period (".") is always used as decimal separator.

Thousands separators aren't supported in input values.

- Example: 1999.99
- Range: 2.23E-308 to 1.79E+308
- Maximum precision: 15 digits

9.3 Integer

Calculations with the **Integer** result type always yield an integer (e.g., 1/3 = 0).

Therefore, use the **Float** type for calculations that may return non integer values.

Thousands separators aren't supported in input values.

- Example: 1250
- **Range:** -9,223,372,036,854,775,808 to 9,223,372,036,854,775,807

9.4 Boolean value

Boolean values are encoded with true and false, without quotes.

9.5 String

The following rules apply to strings in the formulat editor:

- String constants must be put in double quotes (e.g., "String").
- Concatenate string fields and constants with "+" (e.g., {Field} + "String")
- Special characters (", \) must be preceded by a backslash character (\) if they should be part of the string (e.g., "\"Quote\"" or "C:\\Users").
- Line breaks can be inserted with "\n" (e.g., "Line1\nLine2").

9.6 Date/Time

The **Date/Time** data type supports fields and functions of that type. You can find available functions under **Date and time** and under **Type conversion**. If you want to enter a date, use the EncodeDate or StringToDate functions.

Fields of the **Date/Time** type are internally represented as floating point numbers, the part before the point encoding the date and the part after the point encoding the time of day as a proportion of 24 hours. You can therefore calculate with **Date/Time** values (e.g., {Field} - 1 subtracts a day and {Field} + 8/24 adds eight hours).

CurrentDate() returns the current date and CurrentTime() returns the current time of day. To combine both, convert the time to a floating point number and add: CurrentDate() + ToFloat(CurrentTime()).

10 Functions in the formula editor

The following chapter describes functions available in the formula editor.

10.1 Available functions (Maths)

The following mathematical functions are available in the formula editor.

Note

If you use **Truncate** or **Round** in a calculated field, then display that field in the report view and group the values by another field, **Truncate** or **Round** will be applied to each data record in the group before calculating the group sum.

10.1.1 Truncate(Number, Decimal places)

This function truncates the specified *number* up to the specified *decimal places*.

- Input parameters
 - Number (floating point number): the number to truncate
 - Decimal places (integer): the number of decimal places to remain
- **Output:** number truncated to the specified decimal places (floating point number)

Example

Truncate (123.4567, 3) \Rightarrow 123.456

10.1.2 Round(Number, Decimal places)

This function rounds the specified *number* to the specified *decimal places*.

Input parameters

- Number (floating point number): the number to round
- Decimal places (integer): the number of decimal places to remain
- **Output:** *number* rounded to the specified *decimal places* (floating point number)

Example

```
Round (123.4567, 3) \Rightarrow 123.457
```

10.1.3 Power(Number, Number)

This is the power function with arguments *base* and *exponent*.

Please note that the calculation with very large numbers as arguments, particularly as exponent, can cause a memory overflow in the client.

- Input parameters
 - Number (floating point number): base.
 - Number (floating point number): exponent.
- **Output:** *base* to the power of *exponent*.

Example Power(1.1, 3) ⇒ 1.331

10.1.4 Log(Number)

This function returns the natural logarithm of the specified number.

Use the formula $\log (x) / \log (y)$ to calculate the logarithm of x with base y.

- Input parameters
 - Number (floating point number): number whose natural logarithm to return
- **Output:** natural logarithm of the specified *number* (floating point number)

Example

 $Log(100)/Log(10) \Rightarrow 2$

10.2 Available functions (Strings)

The following string functions are available in the formula editor.

10.2.1 Length(String)

This function returns the length of the string.

- Input parameter
 - String: the string whose length is to be determined
- **Output:** length of the specified *string* (integer)

Example

Length("Hello") \Rightarrow 5

10.2.2 Trim(String)

This function cuts off blanks at the beginning and end of the string.

- Input parameter
 - String: the string to be trimmed
- **Output:** the specified *string* without blanks at the beginning and end (string)

Example

Trim(" Hello ") \Rightarrow "Hello"

10.2.3 LowerCase(String)

This function transforms all capital letters in the *string* to lower case.

- Input parameter
 - String: the string to be transformed
- **Output:** the specified *string* in lower case (string)

```
LowerCase("Hello") \Rightarrow "hello"
```

10.2.4 UpperCase(String)

This function transforms all small letters in the string to upper case.

- Input parameter
 - String: the string to be transformed
- **Output:** the specified *string* in upper case (string)

Example

```
UpperCase("Hello") \Rightarrow "HELLO"
```

10.2.5 Left(String, Length)

This function returns the first *length* characters of the *string*.

- Input parameters
 - **String:** the *string* to be trimmed
 - Length (integer): length of the string to return
- Output: the first length characters of the specified string (string)

Example Left("Hello", 3) ⇒ "Hel"

10.2.6 Right(String, Length)

This function returns the last *length* characters of the *string*.

- Input parameters
 - String: the string to be trimmed
 - Length (integer): length of the string to return
- Output: the last length characters of the specified string (string)

Example Right("Hello", 3) \Rightarrow "llo"

10.2.7 Replace(Input string, Search string, Replace string)

This function replaces each occurrence of a string by another string in a string to be searched. The search is not case sensitive.

- Input parameters
 - Input string: the string to search
 - Search string: the string to replace
 - **Replace string:** the string to insert
- Output: input string, where each occurrence of search string has been replaced by replace string (string)

Example

```
Replace("FOOfoo", "foo", "bar") \Rightarrow "barbar"
```

10.2.8 Search(Input string, Search string)

This function returns the first position of a string in a string to be searched. The search is not case sensitive.

- Input parameters
 - Input string: the string to search
 - Search string: the string to look for
- Output: first position of search string in input string or 0 if search string is not contained in input string (integer)

```
Search("Hello World", "world") \Rightarrow 7
```

10.2.9 Contains(Input string, Search string)

This function specifies whether one string is contained in another one. The search is not case sensitive.

- Input parameters
 - Input string: the string to search
 - Search string: the string to look for
- **Output:** true, if *Input string* is contained in *Search string*, false otherwise (boolean value).

Example

```
Contains("Hello World", "world") \Rightarrow true
```

10.2.10 Substring(String, Start, Length)

This function partially returns a given String.

- Input parameters
 - String: the string to be searched
 - Start (integer): first character to return
 - Length (integer): number of characters to return
- **Output:** the string starting at *Start* with length *Length* which is contained in the input *string* (string).

```
Substring("Hello World", 7, 5) \Rightarrow "World"
```

10.3 Available functions (Date and time)

The following functions are available in the formula editor to process dates and times.

Note

In the examples featuring the *CurrentDate()* and *CurrentTime()* functions, Wednesday, 2/15/2023 is used as current date and 08:32:57 am is used as current time.

Please also note sections "10.6.6 DateToString(Date/Time, Output format)" and "10.6.7 StringToDate(String, Input format)" on page 118 for date/string conversion.

10.3.1 CurrentDate()

This function returns the current date. No time is returned.

```
• Output: Current date (date/time)
```

Example

```
CurrentDate() \Rightarrow 2/15/2023 \ 00:00:00
```

10.3.2 CurrentTime()

This function returns the current time. No date is returned.

```
• Output: Current time (date/time)
```

Example

CurrentTime() \Rightarrow 12/30/1899 08:32:57

10.3.3 YearOf(Date/Time)

This function returns the year in a date as a number.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: year (integer)

Example

YearOf(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow 2023

10.3.4 MonthOf(Date/Time)

This function returns the month in a date as a number.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: month (integer)

Example

```
MonthOf(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow 2
```

10.3.5 MonthName(Date/Time)

This function returns the name of a month in a date. The Desktop Client uses the client language. The Web Client uses the server language.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- **Output:** name of month (string)

Example

MonthName(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow "February"

10.3.6 DayOfTheMonth(Date/Time)

This function returns the day of the month in a date as a number.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: day of the month (integer)

```
DayOfTheMonth(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow 15
```

10.3.7 DayOfTheWeek(Date/Time)

This function returns the week day in a date as a number. The number 1 stands for Monday.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: week day (integer)

Example

```
DayOfTheWeek(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow 3
```

10.3.8 WeekDayName(Date/Time)

This function returns the name of the week day in a date.

The Desktop Client uses the client language.

The Web Client uses the server language.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: name of week day (string)

Example

WeekDayName(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow "Wednesday"

10.3.9 HourOfTheDay(Date/Time)

This function returns the hours in a time of day as a number.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: hours (integer)

```
HourOfTheDay(CurrentTime()) \Rightarrow 8
```

10.3.10 MinuteOf(Date/Time)

This function returns the minutes in a time of day as a number.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: minutes (Integer)

Example

```
MinuteOf(CurrentTime()) \Rightarrow 32
```

10.3.11 SecondOf(Date/Time)

This function returns the seconds in a time of day as a number.

- Input parameter
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
- Output: seconds (integer)

Example

```
SecondOf(CurrentTime()) \Rightarrow 57
```

10.3.12 AddDay(Date/Time, Number)

This function adds the specified *number* of days to the input date.

- Input parameters
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
 - Number(Integer): number of days to add
- **Output:** input date plus *number* of days (date/time)

```
AddDay(CurrentDate(), 1) \Rightarrow 2/16/2023 00:00:00
```
10.3.13 AddMonth(Date/Time, Number)

This function adds the specified *number* of months to the input date.

- Input parameters
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
 - Number(Integer): number of months to add
- **Output:** input date plus *number* of months (date/time)

Example

```
AddMonth(CurrentDate(), 1) \Rightarrow 3/15/2023 00:00:00
```

10.3.14 AddYear(Date/Time, Number)

This function adds the specified *number* of years to the input date.

- Input parameters
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
 - Number(integer): number of years to add
- **Output:** input date plus *number* of years (date/time)

Example

AddYear(CurrentDate(), 1) $\Rightarrow 2/15/2024 00:00:00$

10.3.15 AddInterval (Date/Time, Interval)

This functions adds the *interval* specified as a string to the input date.

In English, supported strings are **Month**, **Quarter**, **Half year** and **Year**. In other client languages, corresponding translations must be passed to the function. This can be done via a field with an international input help, like the **Bill per** service agreement field.

The strings accepted in a client language are displayed in the formula editor in the hint for this function when running the client in that language.

- Input parameters
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
 - Interval(string): Month, Quarter, Half year or Year and translations
- **Output:** input date plus *interval*. (date/time)

Example

AddInterval(CurrentDate(), "Half year") \Rightarrow 8/15/2023 00:00:00

10.3.16 EncodeDate(Year, Month, Day)

This function returns a date.

- Input parameters
 - Year(integer)
 - Month(integer)
 - Day(integer)
- **Output:** date from *year*, *month* and *day* (date/time)
- Limitations
 - Dates before 1753 cannot be created.
 - The year must be specified with four digits.
 - Faulty input results in NULL return value.

Examples

EncodeDate(2023, 2, 15) \Rightarrow 2/15/2022 00:00:00 EncodeDate(23, 2, 15) \Rightarrow NULL

10.4 Available functions (More)

The following functions are available to test for NULL, for reading in the user name and operating language, to test whether a user is in a given group and to convert values between currencies.

10.4.1 IsNull(Value)

This function specifies if a given *value* is NULL. The tested value may have any data type.

With this function, you can determine whether a specific link from an aggregated subquery is present in a data record. To do this, test whether the **Record ID** field is NULL in the sub-query. If that is not the case, a linked data record exists.

```
Input parameter
```

- Value (any data type): the value to test
- **Output:** true if the *value* to test is NULL, false otherwise (boolean value).

Example

```
IsNull({Receipts.Net amount}) OR {Receipts.Net amount} = 0

⇒ true if no net amount had been entered, false otherwise.
NOT IsNull({Addresses.Record ID}) ["Addresses" is an aggregated
sub-query]

⇒ true if a linked address exists, false otherwise.
```

10.4.2 NULL()

This function returns the NULL value.

• **Output:** NULL (data type of the return value of the formula)

```
Example
```

```
IsNull(NULL()) \Rightarrow true
```

10.4.3 CurrentUser()

This function returns the user name of the current user.

• Output: user name of the current user (string)

```
Example
```

```
CurrentUser() \Rightarrow "Peter Grayhound"
```

10.4.4 UserNameForld(User ID)

This function takes the ID of an employee's address and returns the associated user name-

- Input parameter
 - User ID (string): ID of an employee's address
- **Output:** User name of the user associated with the employee's address. For addresses that haven't been associated with a user, the function returns the NULL value.

Example

```
UserNameForId({Addresses.User ID}) \Rightarrow "Peter Grayhound"
```

10.4.5 IsCurrentUserInGroup(Group)

This function specifies whether the current user is a member of the given group.

The group name can be prefixed with the domain, separated by a double backslash character (e.g., "Domain\\Group"). The local domain can be specified without the domain name by prefixing the group with only a double backslash (e.g., "\\Group"). When the domain is not specified, the condition is considered as satisfied if a group with the specified name in which the current user is a member exists in any domain.

- Input parameter
 - **Group (string):** The group to test, optionally with domain name (see above).
- **Output:** true if the current user is a member of the *group*, false otherwise (boolean value).

Examples

```
IsCurrentUserInGroup("Sales") ⇒ true
IsCurrentUserInGroup("\\Sales") ⇒ true
IsCurrentUserInGroup("Liverpool\\Sales") ⇒ true
```

10.4.6 CurrentLanguage()

This function returns the operating language as a two character ISO Code.

• **Output:** operating language (string)

```
Example
CurrentLanguage() ⇒ "en"
```

10.4.7 ToBaseCurrency(Value, Currency)

This function converts the specified *value* from the specified original *currency* to the base currency.

- Input parameters
 - Value (floating point number): The value to convert
 - **Currency (string):** three character ISO code of the original *currency*
- **Output:** *Value,* converted from the original *currency* to the base currency (floating point number)

Example

```
ToBaseCurrency (100, "USD") \Rightarrow 76.99
```

10.4.8 FromBaseCurrency(Value, Currency)

This function converts the specified *value* from the base currency to the specified target *currency*.

- Input parameters
 - Value (floating point number): The value to convert
 - **Currency (string):** three character ISO code of the target *currency*
- Output: Value, converted from the base currency to the target *currency* (floating point number)

Example

```
FromBaseCurrency (100, "USD") \Rightarrow 129.86
```

Note concerning the currency functions

Specify currencies with the three character ISO code, as always in CAS genesisWorld.

Enter currencies and conversion rates under **Currencies** in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console, (see "8.2 Settings in the Miscellaneous area – Currencies" on page 96).

10.5 Available functions (Working time)

The WorkingTimeForUser function calculates the given user's working time in the given period, excluding the end date, in 24h days.

10.5.1 WorkingTimeForUser(User ID, Start date, End date)

This function calculates the given user's working time in the given period, including the end date, in 24h days.

- Input parameters
 - User ID (string): The desired user's GUID. It will be available as an address field if addresses have been selected. Instead of the GUID, you may also specify the user name.
 - Start date (date/time): Start date (time of day is ignored, working time calculation always includes the full day of the specified start date).
 - End date (date/time): End date (time of day is ignored, working time calculation always includes the full day of the specified end date).
- **Output:** The given user's total working time in the given period, including the end date, in 24h days (floating point number)

Example

```
WorkingTimeForUser({Addresses.User ID}, {Addresses.Hiring date}, {Addresses.Leaving date}) \Rightarrow 142.5
```

Note

For all-day appointments, the end is internally stored as 00:00 hours of the day following the end displayed for the appointment.

To determine the working time during an all-day appointment, one day should therefore be subtracted from the end date.

This can be achieved by {Appointment.End} - 1.

10.6 Available functions(Type conversion)

The following type conversion functions are available in the formula editor.

10.6.1 ToString(Value)

This function transforms any *value* to a string.

- Input parameter
 - Value(any data type): the value to transform
- Output: value (string)
- Details
 - Boolean values will be converted to "Yes" or "No".
 - Dates will be encoded in the format "dd.mm.yyyy". Use DateToString to specify a custom format (see "10.6.6 DateToString(Date/Time, Output format)" on page 118).
 - Floating point numbers will be rounded to two decimals.

Examples

```
ToString(true) \Rightarrow "Yes", ToString(false) \Rightarrow "No"
ToString(CurrentDate()) \Rightarrow "15.02.2023"
ToString(1/8) \Rightarrow "0.13"
```

10.6.2 ToInt(Value)

This function transforms any value to an integer.

- Input parameter
 - Value(any data type): the value to transform
- Output: value (integer)
- Limitations and Details
 - The decimal separator and thousands separator set up in Windows will be accepted as input when correctly used in a string. Strings that aren't numbers will return NULL.
 - Decimal places in input values will be cut off.
 - Input outside the valid range of numbers will result in wrong results. Floating point numbers support a larger range but have a lower precision (see page 97).
 - Strings that are not numbers and NULL will result to a NULL return value.
 - Boolean values will be converted to 1 or 0.
 - ToInt(date/time) returns the days since 12/30/1899.

Examples

```
ToInt(23.456) \Rightarrow 23
ToInt("1,423.21") \Rightarrow 1423
ToInt(true) \Rightarrow 1, ToInt(false) \Rightarrow 0
ToInt("foo"); ToInt(NULL()) \Rightarrow NULL
```

10.6.3 ToFloat(Value)

This function transforms any *value* into an integer.

- Input parameter
 - Value(any data type): the value to transform
- **Output:** *value* (floating point number)
- Limitations and Details
 - The number of decimal places in a database field or a calculated field depends on the respective settings.
 - The decimal separator and thousands separator set up in Windows will be accepted as input when correctly used in a string.
 - Input outside the valid range of numbers will result in wrong results. Integers support a higher precision but have a smaller range (see page 97).
 - Strings that are not numbers and NULL will result to a NULL return value.
 - Boolean values will be converted to 1.0 or 0.0.
 - ToFloat(date/time) returns the days since 12/30/1899, including the time as a fraction of a day after the floating point.

Examples

ToFloat(23) \Rightarrow 23.00 ToFloat("1,423.21") \Rightarrow 1423.21 ToFloat(true) \Rightarrow 1.00, ToFloat(false) \Rightarrow 0.00 ToFloat("foo"); ToInt(NULL()) \Rightarrow NULL

10.6.4 StringToFloat(String, Thousands seperator, Decimal seperator)

This function transforms a *string* to a floating point number.

- Input parameters
 - String: The string to transform
 - Thousands separator: The character to use as thousands separator
 - Decimal separator: The character to use as decimal separator
- **Output:** The number contained in the *string* (floating point number)
- Limitations and Details
 - "€" and "\$" will only be accepted behind a sequence of numbers and will be removed during conversion.
 - If no thousands separator and decimal separator are specified (empty string), the Windows settings are applied.
 - Faulty input results in a NULL return value.

Examples

```
StringToFloat("3.000,23", ".", ",") ⇒ 3000.23
StringToFloat("3,000.23$", ",", ".") ⇒ 3000.23
```

10.6.5 ToBool(Value)

This function transforms any *value* to a boolean value.

Any positive or negative integer or floating point numbers yield true. 0 yields false.

If a string is specified, "true", "wahr", "1", "-1", "y", "yes", "j" and "ja" are each interpreted as true. "false", "falsch", "0", "n", "no" and "nein" are each interpreted as false. The interpretation is not case-sensitive. The strings don't have to be lowercase. All other strings are interpreted as NULL.

- Input parameter
 - Value (any data type except date/time): the value to transform
- Output: value (boolean value)

Examples

```
ToBool(1); ToBool(-10.0); ToBool("-1"); ToBool("YES") \Rightarrow true
ToBool(0); ToBool(0.0); ToBool("0"); ToBool("nein") \Rightarrow false
ToBool("0.0"); ToBool("10"); ToBool(""); ToBool(Null()) \Rightarrow NULL
```

10.6.6 DateToString(Date/Time, Output format)

This function transforms a date or time of day value to a string.

- Input parameters
 - Date/Time: date/time value to process
 - Output format (string): Formatting. You have the following options. Upper and lower case are not treated differently.
 - yy / yyyy: year with two or four digits
 - m / mm: month with one or two digits
 - **d / dd:** day with one or two digits
 - **hh:** hours, two digits only
 - nn: minutes, two digits only
 - ss: seconds, two digits only
- Output: date/time (string)

Examples

```
DateToString(CurrentDate(), "m/d/yy") \Rightarrow "2/15/23"
DateToString(CurrentDate(), "dd.mm.yyyy") \Rightarrow "15.03.2023"
DateToString(CurrentTime(), "hh:nn") \Rightarrow "08:32"
DateToString(CurrentDate() + ToFloat(CurrentTime()), "m/d/yyyy,
hh:nn") \Rightarrow "2/15/2023, 08:32"
```

10.6.7 StringToDate(String, Input format)

This function transforms a *string* to a date/time value.

- Input parameters
 - String: The String to transform
 - Input format (string): Formatting. You have the same options as for the DateToString function. Upper and lower case are not treated differently.
- Output: date/time
- Limitations
 - Dates before 1753 cannot be converted.
 - The input string must contain a date with a four digit year.
 - Faulty input results in a NULL return value.

Examples

```
StringToDate("2/15/2023", "m/d/yyyy") ⇒ 2/15/2023 00:00:00
StringToDate("15.02.2023", "dd.mm.yyyy ") ⇒ 2/15/2023 00:00:00
StringToDate("2/15/2023 08:32:57", "m/d/yyyy hh:nn:ss")
⇒ 2/15/2023 08:32:57
StringToDate("2/15/23", "m/d/yy") ⇒ NULL
StringToDate("08:32", "hh:nn") ⇒ NULL
```

10.6.8 ToCurrencyString(Value)

This function formats a number (integer or floating point) as a string indicating an amount of money. If required, the number will be rounded to two decimal places and thousands separators will be inserted. The decimal and thousands separator

- Input parameter
 - Value (integer or floating point number): The value to format
- Output: Value (string)

Example

ToCurrencyString(1999.999) ⇒ "2,000.00"

11 Operators in the formula editor

The following chapter supplies an overview of available operators, their combination with different data types in the formula editor and the data types of associated result values.

11.1 Overview of available operators

The following operators are available in the formula editor.

- Arithmetic: addition("+"), subtraction("-"), multiplication("*"), division("/")
- Compare: is equal to("="), is unequal to("<>"), less than("<"), greater than(">"), less than or equal("<="), greater than or equal(">=")
- Boolean: not("NOT"), and("AND"), or("OR")
- Control element structures: "if then else"
- **Others:** parentheses("(x)"), comments("//")

11.2 Prefix operators

Prefix operators precede the expression they are applied to.

Prefix operators available in the formula editor are:

- + (positive prefix, used for all numbers by default and can therefore be ommitted, e.g.,
 5 equals +5)
- - (negative prefix, e.g., -2.5)
- NOT (logical negation, e.g., NOT {Addresses.is Company} results to true for company contacts and to false for companies and individual contacts)

11.3 Infix operators

Infix operators stand between two expressions they are applied to.

The following infix operators are available in the formula editor.

- Arithmetic operations are valid between integer and floating point numbers. The addition and subtraction also allow for date/time expressions. The plus sign "+" can also be used to concatenate strings (see pages 124 through 127).
 - + (addition, e.g., 0.5 + 7 results to 7.5)
 - - (subtraction, e.g., 10 2.5 results to 7.5)
 - * (multiplication, e.g., 2.5 * 4 results to 10)
 - / (division, e.g., 10 / 4 results to 2.5)

- Comparisons are valid between expressions of the same type as well as between integer numbers, floating point numbers and date/time expressions. For boolean expressions, only equality and unequality are valid (see pages 128 through 129).

 - <> (is unequal to, e.g., 1 + 1 <> 3 results to true)
 - < (less than, e.g., 1 < 2 results to true)</pre>
 - (greater than, e.g., 2 > 1 results to true)
 - <= (less than or equal to, e.g., 1 <= 1 results to true)</p>
 - >= (greater than or equal to, e.g., 1 >= 1 results to true)
- Boolean operations are only valid for boolean expressions (see page 130).
 - AND (logical AND, e.g., this is true for individual contacts only; as companies and company contacts fail to fulfill both conditions, the statement is false for them: {Addresses.is Company} AND {Addresses.is Contact})
 - OR (logical OR, e.g., this is true for all addresses receiving either a christmas or birthday card and false for addresses for which none of both boxes is checked: {Addresses.Birthday card} OR {Addresses.Christmas card})

11.4 Special operators

Additionally, if/then/else, parentheses and comments are available:

If/then/else allows for logical branching, e.g., this expression returns the name for contact persons and individual contacts and the company name for companies:
 IF {Addresses.is Contact} THEN {Addresses.Name} ELSE
 {Addresses.Company}

```
For case selection, you can nest such structures as deeply as you like, e.g.:
IF {Opportunities.Probability} = 100 THEN 1
ELSE IF {Opportunities.Probability} >= 50 THEN 0.5
ELSE IF {Opportunities.Probability} >= 25 THEN 0.25
ELSE 0
```

 Parentheses control the order in which operators are applied. Additionally, the usual rules always apply, such as the precedence of multiplication and division over addition and subtraction.

```
Use parentheses, for instance, to multiply a sum:
({Contracts.Credit balance} + {Contracts.Funding amount}) * 1.03
```

 Comments serve only for internal documentation purposes and are never evaluated. For instance, you could comment on the calculation in the previous item regarding parantheses as //Total +3%

11.5 Combining data types with operators

The following sections inform you about which data types and operators may be combined in the formula editor. There are two tables for each operator.

The first table "Formula editor" specifies which data types may be combined with the operator in the formula editor.

The second table "Run time" specifies the data types of return values which result from the combination of data types with an operator. Here data types resulting from the combination with null values are also listed.

11.5.1 Prefix operator "-"

Formula editor

Integer	Yes
Float	Yes
Date/Time	-
String	-
Boolean value	-

Run time

Integer	Integer
Float	Float
Date/Time	-
String	-
Boolean value	-
Integer (Null)	-
Float (Null)	-
Date/Time (Null)	-
String (Null)	-
Boolean value (Null)	-

11.5.2 Prefix operator "+"

Formula editor

Integer	Yes
Float	Yes
Date/Time	-
String	-
Boolean value	-

Run time

Integer	Integer
Float	Float
Date/Time	-
String	-
Boolean value	-
Integer (Null)	-
Float (Null)	-
Date/Time (Null)	-
String (Null)	-
Boolean value (Null)	-

11.5.3 Prefix operator "NOT"

Formula editor

Integer	-
Float	-
Date/Time	-
String	-
Boolean value	Yes

Run time

Integer	-
Float	-
Date/Time	-
String	-
Boolean value	Boolean value
Integer (Null)	-
Float (Null)	-
Date/Time (Null)	-
String (Null)	-
Boolean value (Null)*	Boolean value

* NOT NULL is true, NULL = false is false (see page 128).

11.5.4 Infix operator "+"

Formula editor

Formula editor					
+	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value
Integer	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
Float	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
Date/Time	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	Yes	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-

Run time

Int = Integer FI = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL) +	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer(Null)	Float(Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	Int	FI	D/t	-	-	Int	FI	D/t(N)	-	-
Float	FI	FI	D/t	-	-	FI	FI	D/t(N)	-	-
Date/Time	D/t	D/t	-	-	-	D/t	D/t	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	Str	-	-	-	-	Str	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Integer(Null)	Int	FI	D/t	-	-	Int(N)	FI(N)	D/t(N)	-	-
Float(Null)	FI	FI	D/t	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	D/t(N)	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	D/t(N)	D/t(N)	-	-	-	D/t(N)	D/t(N)	-	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	Str	-	-	-	-	Str(N)	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

11.5.5 Infix operator "-"

Formula editor

Formula editor					
-	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value
Integer	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
Float	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
Date/Time	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-

Run time

Int = Integer FI = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL) -	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer(Null)	Float(Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	Int	FI	-	-	-	Int	FI	-	-	-
Float	FI	FI	-	-	-	FI	FI	-	-	-
Date/Time	D/t	D/t	FI	-	-	D/t	D/t	FI(N)	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Integer(Null)	Int	FI	-	-	-	Int(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Float(Null)	FI	FI	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	D/t(N)	D/t(N)	FI(N)	-	-	D/t(N)	D/t(N)	FI(N)	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

11.5.6 Infix operator "*"

Formula editor

Formula editor	nteger	loat	Date/Time	string	3oolean value
Integer	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
Float	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
Date/Time	-	-	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-

Run time

Int = Integer Fl = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL) *	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer(Null)	Float (Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	Int	FI	-	-	-	Int(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Float	FI	FI	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Date/Time	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Integer(Null)	Int(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-	Int(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Float(Null)	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

11.5.7 Infix operator "/"

Formula editor

/	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value
Integer	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
Float	Yes	Yes	-	-	-
Date/Time	-	-	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-

Run time

Int = Integer FI = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL)	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer(Null)	Float(Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	FI	FI	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Float	FI	FI	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Date/Time	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Integer(Null)	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Float(Null)	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-	FI(N)	FI(N)	-	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

11.5.8 Infix operators "=" and "<>"

Formula editor

Formula editor	r		•		
= , <>	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value
Integer	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
Float	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
Date/Time	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
String	-	-	-	Yes	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	Yes

Run time

Int = Integer FI = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL) = , <>	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer (Null)	Float(Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Float	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Date/Time	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
String	-	-	-	Во	-	-	-	-	Во	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	Во	-	-	-	-	Во
Integer(Null)	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Float(Null)	Во	Во	-	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	Во	-	-	-	-	Во	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	Во	-	-	-	-	Во

Comparisons with NULL with these operators almost always result to false, except:

• NULL = NULL is true.

• [Any value except for NULL] <> NULL is true.

11.5.9 Infix operators "<", ">", "<=" and ">="

Formula editor

<, >, <=, >=	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value
Integer	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	-
Integer Float	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	-	-
Integer Float Date/Time	Yes Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes	-	-
Integer Float Date/Time String	Yes Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes	- - - Yes	- - - -

Run time

Int = Integer FI = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL) <, >, <=, >=	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer(Null)	Float(Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Float	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Date/Time	Во	Во	Во	I	I	Во	Во	Во	-	-
String	-	•	•	Во	-	•	-	-	Во	-
Boolean value	-	•	•	•	•	•	•	-	-	-
Integer(Null)	Во	Во	Во	•	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Float(Null)	Во	Во	•	•	•	Во	Во	Во	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	Во	Во	Во	-	-	Во	Во	Во	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	Во	-	-	-	-	Во	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Comparisons with NULL with these operators almost always result to false, except:

• NULL <= NULL is true.

• NULL >= NULL is true.

11.5.10 Infix operators "AND" and "OR"

Formula editor

AND/OR	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value
Integer	-	-	-	-	-
Float	-	-	-	-	-
Date/Time	-	-	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	Yes

Run time

Int = Integer FI = Float D/t = Date/Time Str = String Bo = Boolean value (N) = (NULL) AND/OR	Integer	Float	Date/Time	String	Boolean value	Integer(Null)	Float(Null)	Date/Time(Null)	String(Null)	Boolean value(Null)
Integer	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Float	-	-	-	-	-	-	I	-	-	-
Date/Time	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
String	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value	-	-	-	-	Во	-	I	-	-	Во
Integer number(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	I	-	-	I
Float(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	I	-	-	-
Date/Time(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
String(Null)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boolean value(Null)	-	-	-	-	Во	-	-	-	-	Во